
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE NORTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 

 
TO BE HELD IN THE REMOTELY 

 
ON MONDAY 15 JUNE 2020 AT 2.00 PM 

 

 
AGENDA 

 
MONDAY 15 JUNE 2020

  PAGE 
 
1   Minutes of the North Central Area Committee Meeting held on the 18th May, 2020 

 
(Report herewith) 
 

5 - 8 

2   Questions to the Area Manager 
 
(Report herewith) 
 

9 - 18 

3   Area Matters   
 

 

a   Edenmore Pitch and Putt Course  
Fergus O’Carroll (Report herewith) 
 

19 - 20 

b   Grass Cutting Contract  
Fergus O’Carroll (Report herewith) 
 

21 - 22 

c   Jack Nolan Report  
Jack Nolan (Verbal Update) 
 

 

d   Mapping Exercise of all SHD's/Planning Applications for Dublin 9 2019 - 
2020  
Bryan Ward (Report herewith) 
 

23 - 30 

e   Update on Industrial land at Belcamp  
Brian White / Celine Reilly (Report to follow) 
 

 

f   Strategy to prosecute perpertrators of illegal dumping  
Simon Brock (Report herewith) 
 

31 - 34 

g   Housing Supply Report  
(Report herewith) 
 

35 - 54 

h   Sports and Wellbeing Partnership Report  
(Report herewith) 
 

55 - 58 



 

4   Roads and Streets Matters   
 

 

a   Minutes of TAG meeting held on the 15th May, 2020  
(Report herewith) 
 

59 - 78 

5   Items for following   
 

 

6   Motions   
 

 

a   Motion in the name of Councillor Catherine Stocker  
That this area committee agrees that the wooden bridge access to Bull Island 
should be closed to cars (excepting residents, golf club and disability access) to 
improve safety and quality of experience until such time as community 
consultation can be undertaken. 
 

 

 

b   Motion in the name of Councillor Donna Cooney  
Welcoming the newly published Dublin City Council and Transport Authority Covid 
Mobility report with an ambitious plan to increase active transport to 89,000 
commuters in the city, could this NC area request that Dublin City council agree to 
quickly expanding measures into the suburbs to link up with routes into the city, 
for example Fairview which is the second busiest for walking and cycling numbers 
in the city yet has a high level of serious road injuries, with the Malahide, Howth 
and Clontarf road feeding into Fairview, it also have six lanes of traffic (so plenty 
of room to expand the pavements on both sides and two way protected cycle 
ways) as temporary measures awaiting completion of the new C2CC also 
Eastwall road and Alfie Byrne road, protection of cycle lanes there and all Collins 
Avenue before schools and DCU reopen in September, also to extend 30k zone 
to The Bull Island causeway or 10k under park by-laws and protected clearly 
marked cycleway and walkway, to limit car parking on both the causeway and 
wooden bridge entrance to applied for permit only, with a possible shuttle bus 
along the causeway during bathing season, also to make Vernon avenue by the 
shops and restaurants at the Coast end one way with expanded pavement and 
safe cycling, only loading bay and only disability parking. 

 

 

c   Motion in the name of Councillor John Lyons  
This area committee believes that the introduction of the Strategic Housing 
Development legislation in Dec 2016 has resulted in a vastly diminished planning 
system that has disenfranchised locally elected representatives and the Irish 
public, allowed private interests to by-pass local-authority development plans and 
local area plans, is less transparent and has failed in its stated objective of "fast-
tracking" housing; therefore, this committee calls on national government and the 
relevant minister to repeal the Planning and Development (Housing) and 
Residential Tenancies Act 2016 and the Planning and Development (Strategic 
Housing Development) Regulations 2017, return  the planning powers to the local 
authorities and restore democracy to the planning system. 

 
If passed by this area committee, the motion will be sent to the Housing SPC and 
a letter written to the Department of Housing, Planning and Local Government 
informing it of our stated position and intention.  

 

 

d   Motion in the name of Councillor Alison Gilliland  
The North Central Area Committee recognises the significant level of vehicular 
and pedestrian use along the Oscar Traynor Rd. The North Central Area 
Committee recognises the significant level of development that will take place 
along this axis of this road in the near future - Santry developments, development 
on the Lawrence Lands, Cromcastle Court redevelopment, the underpass site, 
Bunratty Phase 3 and the Chivers site development. Given the importance of this 
route the North Central Area Committee seeks that a comprehensive traffic, 
transport and public realm plan be put in place to upgrade and  develop this route 
in a sustainable way that future proofs its aspect and use for the next decade.  

 



 

 
 





1 
 

 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE NORTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE MEETING 

 
HELD ON MONDAY 18 MAY 2020 

 
 

 
 
1   Minutes of the North Central Area Committee meeting 

 
Order:  Agreed 
 
The Chairperson thanked the Staff of the North Central Area for their continued 
efforts during the pandemic. 
Cllr. Hemmings announced his resignation as a Councillor and Cllr Heney wished 
him well in the future. 
 

 

2   Questions to the Area Manager 
 
Order: Noted 
 

 

3   Area Matters   
 

 

a   "Proposed Variation (No 30) of Dublin City Development Plan 2016 - 
2022 5 - 6 Newtown Cottages, Malahide Road.  
Order: Cllr Lyons sought clarification on who requested rezoning at this 
location. Agreed that variation to go to City Council in the future and that 
NCAC to be kept informed of status and any further consultations. 
 

 

b   North Bull Island Nature Reserve Action Plan 2020 - 2025  
Order:  Report noted.  NCAC agreed that this be included as an item on a 
future Agenda (physical meeting).   
 
Fergus O’Carroll to update Councillors with regard to the cycle / pedestrian 
structure of the Causeway with signage information to remind cyclists to 
slow down. (During Covid)  
 

 

c   Area Update - Artane/Whitehall  
Order: Noted.   
 

 

d   Area Update - Clontarf/Donaghmede  
Order: Noted 
 
 
 

 

e   Proposed disposal of a plot and grant of a wayleave to the Electricity 
Supply Board at Belcamp Lane, Dublin 17 to supply a new sub 
station.  

 

Page 5



2 
 

Order: Agreed.  Refer to City Council. 
 

f   Naming & Numbering Proposal for a new apartment development on 
the site of the temporary schools in Belmayne (on the old Balgriffin 
Park Lands) Wellfield Bridge Apartment  
Order: Agreed. 
 

 

g   Housing Supply Report  
Order: Noted.   
 
Update report on Millwood Court to be forwarded to the Councillors 
Update report on Laurence Lands to be forwarded to the Councillors   
Update report on Bunratty Road to be forwarded to the Councillors  
 

 

h   Housing Quarterly Report  
Order: Noted 
 

 

i   Public Domain Update  
Order: Noted. 
 

 

j   Sports and Wellbeing Partnership Report  
Order: Noted. 
 

 

4   Roads and Streets Matters   
 

 

a   Minutes of TAG Meeting held on 15th April, 2020.  
Order: Noted. 
 

 

5   Items for following meeting 
 

 Grass Cutting Contract  

 Mapping exercise/Presentation on all SHD’s and Planning applications from 2019 

– 2020 in the Dublin 9  

 Discretionary 

 Edenmore Pitch and Putt Course 

 Jack Nolan Report  

 Aggressive Strategy to identify / Prosecute perpertrators of illegal dumping 

 Update on industrial dumping – Belcamp 

 

 

6   Motions   
 

 

a   Motion in the name of Councillor Lawrence Hemmings  
That this Area Office would adopt an ecology-first approach to managing 
vegetation in the public space as our Area is indeed an integral and ecologically 
significant component of coastal habitat within the Dublin Bay Biosphere. This 
approach, in-line with the City Biodiversity Plan, would ensure that actions taken 
by all divisions of DCC, including Parks, Traffic and Public Realm, would maintain 
and trim vegetation providing ecosystem services, rather than undertake complete 
/ near complete removal of vegetated areas supporting local populations of 
species and helping nature during a biodiversity crisis.  By way of an example, I 
raised a relevant issue previously concerning the removal of trees along the 
James Larkin Road cycle path, which had been providing important feeding 

 

Page 6



3 
 

habitat to birds, including finch species before its removal. That habitat is no 
longer available to species and will not be for a number of years because an 
ecology-first approach was not taken to vegetation management at the time. 
 
Reply: 

 
DCC Parks Service have not found any information or reference to an 'ecology 
first ' approach to land management (Google search 8 May 2020) nor is there 
such a reference in the Biodiversity Action Plan.  However, the conservation of 
local ecology is a guiding principle in all land management decisions undertaken 
by the Parks Service.  

 
No trees or shrubs were removed from the location as part of the works referred to 
above.  Rather some woody vegetation (mostly self-sown buddleia) that was 
interfering with the public footpath which resulted in pedestrians having to walk 
onto the dedicated cycle lane to avoid these bushes was cut back to its base on 
safety grounds outside of the bird nesting season.   The Buddleia is growing in the 
rock armour between the public path and the intertidal zone of Dublin Bay.  This 
works is carried out every 2-3 years because the Buddleia grows back so quickly.  
Buddleia is an invasive, self-seeding, non-native shrub; cultivated varieties of 
which are widely planted in gardens as it attracts butterflies, and other species.  It 
is widespread in Dublin.  

 
Finches are among the most common garden birds in Dublin, and the cutting back 
of buddleia at this location is unlikely to have a measurably negative impact. 

  
Coilín O’Reilly  
Director of Services 
North City 

 
Contact: Fergus O’Carroll, Senior Executive Parks Superintendent 
Email:   parks@dublincity.ie 

 

Order: Report to Councillor 
 

 
Cllr. Deirdre Heney 

Chairperson 
Monday 18 May 2020 
 
 
 
Attendance: 
 
Members: Members: Members: 

   

Daryl Barron Patricia Roe Donna Cooney 

Catherine Stocker Terence Flanagan Lawrence Hemmings 

Racheal Batten Tom Brabazon Deirdre Heney 

Jane Horgan-Jones John Lyons Micheal Mac Donncha 

Naoise O'Muiri Damian O'Farrell Larry O'Toole 

Declan Flanagan Alison Gilliland  
 

Officers   

Coilin O'Reilly Dara McLoughlin Richard Cleary 

Deirdre Murphy Elaine Mulvenny Derek Farrell 

Yvonne Kirwan Vanessa Carey Fidelma Fahey 

Fergus O’Carroll Sara Brady Richard Cleary 

Connell McGlynn  Leona Fynes Aileen Doyle 

Page 7

mailto:parks@dublincity.ie


4 
 

   
 

Apologies:    

   
 

Non-Members:    

   
 

Page 8



DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL 
NORTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 

15th June 2020 
 

Q.1 Question in the name of Lord Mayor Tom Brabazon 
 
 “To ask the area manager if he will carry out the following works (details supplied).” 
 
Q.2 Question in the name of Councillor Racheal Batten 
 

 “To ask the Area Manager to look at the traffic light junction on Shantalla Road after the mini 
 roundabout for vision. There has been a lot of reports that there is a lot of people breaking the 
 lights and some claiming that the lights are not very clear. They are older and wonder are 
 they on a list to be updated or this be reviewed please.” 
 

Q.3 Question in the name of Councillor Racheal Batten 
 

 “To ask the Area Manager to look the verges on Coolgreena Road as there has been a lot of 
 reports of rats burring in the pipes under it. While I understand Irish water did some work but if 
 there is anything that the parks can do assist with the rodents issue it would be very helpful. 
 There is a number of young children in the area and there was three rats appearing out of the 
 picture attached.” 
 

Q.4 Question in the name of Councillor Racheal Batten 
 

 “To ask the Area Manager to provide an update on where (details supplied)  on the housing 
 list.” 
 

Q.5 Question in the name of Councillor Racheal Batten 
 

 “To ask the Director of Services if he can arrange to have the footpath dished at a location 
 (details supplied) to facilitate wheelchair use?” 

 
Q.6 Question in the name of Councillor Racheal Batten 
 

 "To ask the Director of Services if he will arrange for the repair of the road surface at (details 
 supplied) which was damaged by a construction company during construction works at this 
 location?” 
  

Q.7 Question in the name of Councillor Racheal Batten 
 

 “To ask the Area Manager to outline if there has been directions given to residents’ groups to 
 not engage in clean ups as there is staff shortages to clean up.” 

 
Q.8 Question in the name of Councillor Racheal Batten 
 

 “To ask the Area Manager to clean up the Kilmore Road there is a number of sections with 
 rubbish in the bushes.” 

 
Q.9 Question in the name of Councillor Racheal Batten 
 

 “To ask the Area Manager to consider looking into wavering the fee on planning permission 
 on application for drives in areas where there is considerable parking issues in a bid to ease 
 congestions.” 

 
Q.10 Question in the name of Councillor Larry O’Toole 
 
 “To ask the CEO to give an update on the promised installation of new windows at (details 
 supplied).”  
 

Page 9



Q.11 Question in the name of Councillor Catherine Stocker 
 

 “Will the Council provide an update on the taking in charge of the open green space between 
 Parkside and the River Mayne?`” 

 
Q.12 Question in the name of Councillor Catherine Stocker 
 

 “Will the Council repair the infill of a tree-pit outside (details supplied) where there is sinking 
 causing unevenness and posing a trip hazard.” 
 

Q.13 Question in the name of Councillor Catherine Stocker 
 

 “To ask the manager to clarify what the exact position is with regard to community clean ups – 
 is the council supporting these at this time and, if not, when might it be in a position to?” 
 

Q.14 Question in the name of Councillor Declan Flanagan 
 

 “Can the manager provide an update on Newtown Court please.” 
 
Q.15 Question in the name of Councillor Declan Flanagan 
 
 “What is the update on the Causeway road, North Bull Island Nature reserve please.” 
 
Q.16 Question in the name of Councillor Declan Flanagan 
 
 “Can the manger circulate any bathing quality reports that have been carried out in the North 
 Central area recently.” 
 
Q.17 Question in the name of Councillor Declan Flanagan 
 
 “Has DCC had any recent meetings with Irish Water and if so can you provide a report on 
 same.” 
 
Q.18 Question in the name of Councillor Declan Flanagan 
 
 “Can the Manager confirm if the Bring Centre on the Oscar Traynor road is operating fully 
 now.” 
 
Q.19 Question in the name of Councillor Declan Flanagan 
 
 “Can the manager confirm what housing projects are being conducted by DCC in the North 
 Central area.” 
 
Q.20 Question in the name of Councillor Declan Flanagan 
 
 “Can the manager confirm how often detail supplied Old Malahide road is cleaned and 
 swept.” 
 
Q.21 Question in the name of Councillor Declan Flanagan 
 
 “Can the manager provide an update on any instances of dumped waste in the North Central 
 area over the past 6 months.” 
 
Q.22 Question in the name of Councillor John Lyons 
 
 “To request that (details supplied).” 
 
  
 
 

Page 10



Q.23 Question in the name of Lord Mayor Tom Brabazon 
 
 “Can damaged kerbs around at a junction (details supplied) be repaired? 
 
  
Q.24 Question in the name of Lord Mayor Tom Brabazon 
 
 “Can a missing bollard at (details supplied) be replaced in order to prevent vehicles 
 mounting the footpath when turning this corner?” 
 
Q.25 Question in the name of Lord Mayor Tom Brabazon 
 
 “Can a major repair of the footpaths at (details supplied) be undertaken?Trees have recently 
 been removed from these footpaths.The already damaged footpaths now have big holes in 
 them following the removal of the trees.” 
  
Q.26 Question in the name of Lord Mayor Tom Brabazon 
 
 “Can a green which is surrounded by a kerb at (details supplied) be removed in order to 
 allow adjacent householders to park their cars nearer their houses?” 
  
Q.27 Question in the name of Lord Mayor Tom Brabazon 
 
 “Can the drains at (details supplied)  be cleared.” 
 
 Details: On hole in the Wall Road along side Fr Collins Park 
 
Q.28 Question in the name of Lord Mayor Tom Brabazon 
 
 “Can the trees on the Public Open Space (at details attached) have their canopies raised as 
 the branches are too low and are affecting the use of the cycle path.” 
 
 Details: THe Footpath on Northern Cross on the Malahide Road ( Belmayne side). 
 
Q.29 Question in the name of Lord Mayor Tom Brabazon 
 
 “Can the manager advise the following (details attached).” 
 
 Detais: When will the Greenway that begins at the rear of Marrsfield Avenue open up 
 out to the Coast enabling a walk from there to the sea? 
 
Q.30 Question in the name of Lord Mayor Tom Brabazon 
 
 “Can the manager arrange the following (details supplied).” 
 
 Details: To have the grass at the entrance to Rathvale Drive cut back properly and 
 around the trees at the green at Rathvale Park and also at Limewood Park. 
 
Q.31 Question in the name of Councillor Deirdre Heney 
 
 “Can the Manager please say why the tennis courts at St. Anne’s Park is  not opened yet the 
 public tennis courts at Herbert Park are open and Parks Dept are reported to have said that it 
 has taken steps to guarantee compliance in relation to physical distancing such as advance 
 bookings" and if he can say if same can be arranged for the public tennis courts at St. Anne’s 
 Park.” 
 
Q.32 Question in the name of Councillor Deirdre Heney 
 

“Can the Manager please inspect and report on narrowness of road as per (details supplied) 
and say  

Page 11



Q.33 Question in the name of Councillor Deirdre Heney 
 

“Can the manager refer to previous requests (and commitment from City Council) to clear 
away rubbish and debris from laneway as per (details supplied) and say if the clean up job 
that was started by Dublin City Council some months ago can now be completed and if a 
statement can be made on the matter.” 
 

Q.34 Question in the name of Councillor Deirdre Heney 
 

 “Can the manager please refer to footpath at corner at location as per (details supplied) at 
(A) and say if he can reconfigure same to something similar as at details (B) attached, that will 
discourage motorists taking the left turn at unsafe speed as there was a recent near miss 
where a vulnerable pedestrian was lucky not to have been hit by a motorist turning left .” 
 

Q.35 Question in the name of Councillor Deirdre Heney 
 
 “Can the manager please refer to tenancy as per (details supplied) in which there is an 
 infestation of ants and say if he can be of assistance to tenant in having same eradicated.” 
  
Q.36 Question in the name of Councillor Deirdre Heney 
 

“Can the manager, in relation to huge trees in area under the charge of Dublin City Council as 
per (details supplied), say if, in relation to this poorly maintained area, agree to arrange 
regular pruning of the huge trees on same as constituent is worried that in high winds they are 
dangerous; plus the trees are seriously blocking daylight from house at details attached and 
also say if in time, there is a possibility of replacing these trees with more appropriate smaller 
style trees. 
 

Q.37 Question in the name of Councillor Deirdre Heney 
 

“Can the manager please refer to tree at location as per (details supplied) and say if he can 
arrange to prune same as the tree is huge and senior citizen residents at details attached is 
concerned about the size of the tree which grows up close to her home during the summer 
months 

 
Q.38 Question in the name of Councillor Deirdre Heney 
 

“Can the Manager please refer to area at location as per details attached where two rat holes 
exist in the public domain and say if he can arrange to have same tended to as local residents 
feel that the holes are a danger to vulnerable pedestrians as well as pedestrians generally.” 
 

Q.39 Question in the name of Councillor Deirdre Heney 
 

“Can the manager please give an update on plans to provide a playground for Rockfield Park 
and if a statement can be made on the matter as local residents are anxiously awaiting this 
much needed facility.” 
 

Q.40 Question in the name of Councillor Deirdre Heney 
 
 “Can the manager please examine footpath at location as per attached and say if necessary 
 repairs can be carried out as the path is in very poor condition and hazardous for vulnerable 
 pedestrians.” 

 
Q.41 Question in the name of Councillor Deirdre Heney 
 
 “Can the manager refer to rubble dumped in laneway to rear of details attached and arrange 
 to clear away same - its getting worse day by day.” 
 
  
 

Page 12



Q.42 Question in the name of Councillor Patricia Roe 
 
 “To ask the Area Manager if he will arrange that (details supplied) is included as a location 
 for the next schedule of tree pruning as residents have raised concerns that trees are 
 blocking light and the road is very dimly lit at night?” 
  
Q.43 Question in the name of Councillor Patricia Roe 
 
  “To ask the Area Manager, further to a number of previous council questions and direct 
 representations from local TDs and members of the public, when a wheelchair / disabled 
 parking space can be provided at the (details supplied), as there is currently no wheelchair 
 parking spot or  wheelchair access at the Pub, leaving it very difficult for people who will wish 
 to bring a  wheelchair using relative to visit the pub when it re-opens?” 
  
Q.44 Question in the name of Councillor Patricia Roe 
 
 “To ask the Area Manager if they will work with residents in (details supplied) Dublin 9 as 
 they are working hard with the council to keep their area clean and presentable and would 
 greatly appreciate it if the council could provide some planters for their road?” 
  
Q.45 Question in the name of Councillor Patricia Roe 
 
 “To ask the Manager when a level access shower can be provided for a tenant (details 
 supplied) in Dublin 9?” 
  
Q.46 Question in the name of Councillor Patricia Roe 
 
 “To ask the Manager if tree pruning can be carried out at a location (details supplied) in 
 Dublin 9, as the branches of the tree are interfering with the telephone wires?” 
   
Q.47 Question in the name of Councillor Patricia Roe 
 
 “To ask the Area Manager to take action to ensure that the replanting of trees and shrubs that 
 was promised more than 18 months ago in Woodlawn, Santry by a contractor licenced by the 
 City Council takes place without further delay?” 

 
Q.48 Question in the name of Councillor Patricia Roe 
 
 “To ask the Area Manager to have Castleview Artane cleaned on a more regular basis?” 

 
Q.49 Question in the name of Councillor Patricia Roe 
 
 “To ask the Area Manager to have a look at the issue of speeding traffic entering/exiting 
 Grace Park Heights with a view to erecting some ‘Slow’ signage or other deterrent as the 
 traffic dept sees fit.  There is an issue with speed of traffic, the number of cars parked, and 
 pedestrians, children especially, crossing the road in the vicinity of the lane leading to 
 Calderwood Road.” 

 
Q.50 Question in the name of Councillor Patricia Roe 
 

“To ask the Area Manager to have Collins Ave Bring Centre opened as a matter of 
urgency.  Waste Management stated that it cant be opened as the BC shares space with a 
DCC depot and social distancing measures could not be implemented.  However, in my view, 
this Bring Centre is more suitable for use that others – eg Oscar Traynor Road as it is larger, 
has a one way system for traffic entering and exiting and as the BC itself is gated, it would not 
be difficult for staff to monitor the number of people entering at any one time.  There has been 
a huge increase in the dumping of green waste in surrounding estates and opening Collins 
Ave Bring Centre should alleviate this as well as provide a much needed resource.” 
 

 

Page 13



Q.51 Question in the name of Councillor Patricia Roe 
 

“To ask the Area Manager to follow up on complaints from residents of Newton Court, 
Belcamp, regarding the expansion of and illegal dumping/burning/anti social behaviour 
emanating from the Traveller sites beside their estate.  Residents have previously requested 
gates at the main entrance and have been refused. Also in relation to the recent extension of 
the site (see reply from Chief Executive to Q.98 Council Meeting 11th May 2020), this 
extension seems to now be used as a new space for burning and dumping.” 
 

Q.52 Question in the name of Councillor Patricia Roe 
 
 “To provide signage requesting that people not dump here & use their local bring centres for 
 green garden waste at (details supplied).” 
  
Q.53 Question in the name of Councillor Alison Gilliland 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services to arrange for (details supplied).” 
 
Q.54 Question in the name of Councillor Alison Gilliland 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services to arrange for (details supplied).” 
  
Q.55 Question in the name of Councillor Alison Gilliland 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services to arrange for the following road markings to be remarked 
 (details supplied).” 

 
Q.56 Question in the name of Councillor Alison Gilliland 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services to arrange for (details supplied).” 
  
Q.57 Question in the name of Councillor Alison Gilliland 
 

 “To ask the Director of Services to provide an update on the priorities identified by the local 
community with regard to (details supplied). A previous response to a question indicated that 
the priorities were 'priorities arising from the early consultations are the exclusion of 
motorbikes from the park through the installation of kissing gates or barriers on the 
unprotected entrances and the development of a perimeter path network within the park.' 
  

Q.58 Question in the name of Councillor Alison Gilliland 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services to arrange for (details supplied).” 
 
Q.59 Question in the name of Councillor Alison Gilliland 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services to arrange for (details supplied).” 
 
Q.60 Question in the name of Councillor Alison Gilliland 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services to arrange for the replacement door at (details supplied).”  
 

 
Q.61 Question in the name of Councillor Alison Gilliland 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services to carry out an audit of the entrances into (details 
 supplied).” 
 
  
 
 

Page 14



 
Q.62 Question in the name of Councillor Terence Flanagan 
 

 “To ask the Manager to have trees cut in the following area (Details supplied) and if he can 
make a statement on the matter.” 
 

Q.63 Question in the name of Councillor Terence Flanagan 
 

 “To ask the Manager to have drainage issue at (Details supplied) resolved.” 
 

Q.64 Question in the name of Councillor Terence Flanagan 
 

 “To ask the Manager to have a tree pruned outside the following house (Details supplied) 
and if he can make a statement on the matter.” 

 
Q.65 Question in the name of Councillor Terence Flanagan 
 

 “To ask the Manager regarding (Details supplied) and if he can make a statement on the 
matter.” 
 

Q.66 Question in the name of Councillor Terence Flanagan 
 

 “To ask the Manager for an update regarding large scale planning applications in the north 
central area.” 
 

Q.67 Question in the name of Councillor Terence Flanagan 
 

 “To ask the Manager to have flowers planted at the Clare Hall and Donaghmede 
roundabouts.” 

 
Q.68 Question in the name of Councillor Terence Flanagan 
 

 “To ask the Manager to outline the parks and roads work programme for 2020 in the north 
central area.” 
 

Q.69 Question in the name of Councillor Terence Flanagan 
 
 “To ask the Manager to provide an up to date position on a proposal by DCC to build local 
 authority social homes on Slademore Ave / Ayrfield. Dublin 13.” 
 
Q.70 Question in the name of Councillor Naoise O’Muirí 
 
 “Can the Manager please: 

1. Provide outline details of the arrangements between Dublin City Council and 1st Dublin 
Fairview Scout Group in relation to the use of the scouting building and surrounding garden at 
Croydon Gardens, Marino 

2. Provide details of the DCC official responsible for administering the arrangement as the 
Group would like to make contact with him/her.” 

 
Q.71 Question in the name of Councillor Naoise O’Muirí 
 
 “Can the Manager ask the traffic engineers to propose measures to calm traffic and improve 
 visibility at the location in Grace Park Heights as detailed in the correspondence below 
 (details supplied).” 
 
Q.72 Question in the name of Councillor Naoise O’Muirí 
 

 Can the Manager please organise for inspection by the environmental health officers at the 
following addresses (details supplied 1) to deal with the issues as raised in the 
correspondence below (details supplied 2). 

Page 15



Q.73 Question in the name of Councillor Naoise O’Muirí 
 

 “Can the Manager (a) confirm if additional litter bins have been added on the Clontarf 
Seafront and Dollymount Strand and (b) confirm the target collection frequency for each for 
bank holiday weekend and the summer months generally? There appears to have been a 
surge in litter bin usage as the COVID19 restrictions ease.” 
 

Q.74 Question in the name of Councillor Naoise O’Muirí 
 

“Can the Manager please advise if DCC has a role in resolving an issue in St Davids Park as 
laid out in the correspondence below (details supplied).” 
 

Q.75 Question in the name of Councillor Naoise O’Muirí 
 
 “Can the Manager provide a brief update on the proposed neighbourhood scheme for the 
 bottom of Vernon Avenue.” 
 
Q.76 Question in the name of Councillor Naoise O’Muirí 
 
 Can the Manager please organise for additional signage in relation to discouraging cycling on 
 the footpath at the end of the Bull Wall as raised in the correspondence below (details 
 supplied) 

 
Q.77 Question in the name of Councillor Naoise O’Muirí 
 

 Can the Manager please provide an update on the re-opening of the public tennis courts in St 
Annes Park as raised in the email below (details supplied).” 
 

Q.78 Question in the name of Councillor Daryl Barron 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services to seek to have repair to the path (details supplied) as this 
 have recent caused an accident locally.” 

 
Q.79 Question in the name of Councillor Daryl Barron 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services if he will arrange for shrubs and weeds at a location (details 
 supplied) to be cut back?” 
  
Q.80 Question in the name of Councillor Daryl Barron 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services if he will arrange for additional park seating to be provided at 
 (details supplied)?” 
 
Q.81 Question in the name of Councillor Daryl Barron 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services if he will get someone to monitor the Noise pollution at 
 (Details Supplied) has been complaints that construction is beginning at 7 AM.” 
 
Q.82 Question in the name of Councillor Daryl Barron 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services if he can look to install speed ramps on (Details Supplied) 
 as this is the only road in the area without ramps and has bus route on it.” 
  
Q.83 Question in the name of Councillor Daryl Barron 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services if the replacement water pump at (Details Supplied) will be 
 installed and fixed.” 
 
 
 

Page 16



Q.84 Question in the name of Councillor Daryl Barron 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services if the wall on (Details Supplied) can be painted as has come 
 into disrepair”.  
 
Q.85 Question in the name of Councillor Daryl Barron 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services what investment into the ‘Big Belly Solar Panel Bins’ will be 
 carried out for 2020 and if so has there been an overview of these locations to combat against 
 illegal dumping and littering?” 
 
Q.86 Question in the name of Councillor Daryl Barron 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services of repairs and works that can be carried at (Details 
 Supplied) as it is in major need of repairs to paths through the green space for the local 
 community. I would also request to examine ways to enhance green space.” 
 
Q.87 Question in the name of Councillor Daryl Barron 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services of when road repairs and works will be carried at (Details 
 Supplied) as this was down for Budget for 2020.” 
 
Q.88 Question in the name of Councillor Daryl Barron 
 
 “To ask the Director of Services to have works carried out along the seafront 
 cycleway/walkway as overgrown weeds/plants are limiting the cycle lane and request for new 
 and clearer lines/directs to be installed along the walkway/cycleway to help improve visibility 
 for  users along the path.” 
 
 

 

Page 17





DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL 
NORTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 

15th June 2020 
 

Area Matters A: Edenmore Pitch and Putt Course 
 
The pitch and putt course in Edenmore park occupies approximate 4 hectares of the park 
which represents just over half of the space of the entire park. It has long been considered 
that the opening of this part of the park to the public rather than for the sole use of a club of 
about 40 members would be much more advantageous to the local community than its current 
use. There is little demand for pitch and putt in the area and the opening of the course as 
parkland would be like the creation of a new park in Edenmore. This additional 4 ha of 
undulating parkland which was never previously open to the community would no doubt be 
welcomed by the Edenmore Community who have been very active in enhancing the park 
and their local area.   
 
However, as the Committee is more than aware, incidences of anti-social behaviour including 
joy-riding, fire setting and congregation after dark have all been on the increase in recent 
years.  The soccer pitch in the park has been out of commission for well over 12 months and 
was just recovering from the repairs carried out after a car was burnt out when another car 
significantly damaged the pitch over the winter.   
 
The most successful way to reduce such incidences of anti-social behaviour is to increase the 
number of visitors to the park by making improvements such as has been achieved in 
Stardust Park over the last 2 years. At present the 4 ha course is enclosed with fencing and 
dense vegetation. The intention would be to remove the fencing, reduce the vegetation cover 
to allow for clear views for public safety and to construct a footpath around the park which 
would give a perimeter path of 1.25km around the entire park suitable for running and 
perhaps a local Parkrun. 
 
The unsightly concrete pavilion that was used for taking cash payment will also be 
demolished and the site returned to parkland. 
 
Due to the covid event and restrictions which derived from social distancing requirements, 
maintenance priorities had to be set and the pitch and putt course (which requires a much 
greater level of work than normal grassland) was one area where maintenance was not 
continued as it was not open to the public. As the course has not been maintained in 3 
months it would take some considerable investment of time and resources to bring it back into 
commission and it is unlikely to be playable for the remainder of the summer.   
 
The pitch and putt course costs in excess of €60,000 per annum to maintain and operate 
however, the income generated has fallen considerably in recent years from €14k in 2010 to 
€3k in 2018 and €4k in 2019 which reflects the lack of demand and interest locally for this 
facility. A preferred alternative use of this funding would be a phased improvement 
programme for an extended Edenmore Park.  
 
The Parks Service is more than happy to engage with the community to canvass opinion 
locally as how they would like to see the park developed over the next few years and to 
ascertain if there are any other facilities such as boules or pétanque which could be provided 
in the park to act as a social outlet. The par 3 in St Annes Park is also available to those 
interested in pitch and putt. 
 
Coilín O’Reilly  
Director of Services 
North City 
 
Contact: Fergus O’Carroll, Senior Executive Parks Superintendent. 
Email:  parks@dublincity.ie 
 
 

Page 19

mailto:parks@dublincity.ie




DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL 
NORTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 

15th June 2020 
 

Area Matters B: Grass Maintenance Contract 
 
 
A number of areas of complaint of poor grass maintenance were identified at last month’s 
Area Committee meeting. It was assumed that these areas were under contract and that the 
contractor was not meeting the requirements of the Maintenance Contract 2016-2020.  Upon 
investigation it was found that the areas in question are maintained by direct labour and are 
not under contract.   
 
Due in part to some staff self-isolating, but mainly the need to achieve social distancing, 
reduced man hours and resources have been available to the Parks Service as with every 
other service during the covid event. Because covid signage and emergency response has 
been prioritised over routine maintenance it has taken longer to get around to all grass 
maintenance areas, however as restrictions relax all areas will begin to return to normal as 
resources allow.    
 
Grass maintenance at this time of year whether by contract or by direct labour is a challenge 
as the spring growth surge can result in 4 inches of growth in a week leading to complaints 
even when the grass had been cut within the last 7 days.  In a couple of weeks the growth 
rate will subside and so will the number of complaints. 
 
Furthermore a number of the complaints referred to longer grass at the edges of open 
spaces, under railings and around trees as being unsightly.  This is a consequence of the 
cessation of spraying of herbicides in the public realm, a policy change adopted and 
supported by the full council.  While there are many benefits to this policy change in terms of 
pollinators, biodiversity, public health and quality of the water entering Dublin Bay it does 
mean that longer grass and opportunist native flowers and plants will be more evident in the 
public realm.   This policy is being reflected in the next contract documents to be put out to 
tender later this year.  Prices are being sought to have these areas which cannot be mown 
conventionally strimmed once or twice during the growing season which will keep the growth 
at these boundaries somewhat in check but the scorched earth approach that pertained in the 
past will no longer be the norm. 
 
The Council is also committed to the National Pollinator Plan and has been carrying out 
wilding initiatives, planting of wildflowers, implementing differential mowing regimes and 
identifying areas that do not need to be cut.  These initiates have been promoted in the media 
but do not suit everybody’s personal aesthetic and can be seen by some as not being neat 
and tidy but the positive feedback has far outweighed the negative. 
 
The advice remains that complaints about grass cutting should be forwarded to 
parks@dublincity.ie with details and precise location where they can be logged in the 
Customer Response Management system and forwarded to the Parks District Supervisor in 
the first instance (as is require by the terms of the contract) and if appropriate the Parks 
Contracts Manager. 
 
The level of complaints about grass cutting is actually quite low; 6 complaints were received 
directly by email (3 referred to the same estate came in one representation) re grass cutting in 
the North Central Area; 5 of which referred to areas cut by direct labour and 1 that claimed 
that the contactor had shredded litter when maintaining verges which was investigated but no 
shredded litter could be found at the reported locus.  8 complaints re grass cutting have been 
received in the last 4 weeks at the on the parks@dublincity.ie email 6 of which referred to 
areas maintained by direct labour and 2 referred to the verge cutting contract. 
 
It has been the experience of the Parks Service that the contractors are quite anxious to 
rectify problems as soon as they arise as the contract does specify quite punitive penalties if 
such disputes are not resolved.   The main issue that arises is the level of dumping on open 

Page 21

mailto:parks@dublincity.ie
mailto:parks@dublincity.ie


space in some locations that can prevent areas being cut.  As such excessive dumping is not 
part of the maintenance contract the contracts manager works quite closely with the 
contractor and local management to have areas cleared in advance of scheduled 
maintenance visits.   Some areas of public open space under grass have been maintained 
under contract since 2008.   As this is the 4th and final year of this contract everyone involved 
is more than familiar with their areas and the requirements of the contract.  
 
 
  
Coilín O’Reilly  
Director of Services 
North City 
 
Contact: Fergus O’Carroll, Senior Executive Parks Superintendent. 

Email:  parks@dublincity.ie 

 
 
 
 
 
As you have referred to below I have only been in my current role in DCC since 2017 and 
have worked with 3 different contract managers whose role has in this time been always 
much wider than just the grass cutting contract and included the management of the invasive 
species control contract.  My experience has been that the contractors are quite anxious to 
rectify problems as soon as they arise as the contract does specify quite punitive penalties if 
such disputes are not resolved.  I have been advised by colleagues with more experience of 
this issue that the role of Contracts Manager predates this  phase of the grass maintenance 
contract by many years and has always included the management of other contracts and 
some other city-wide corporate matter.  Also it seems from earlier Contract Documents 
available on the server that some areas of public open space under grass have been 
maintained under contract since 2008.  I believe the phrase ‘Newly Appointed Contracts 
Manager’ in the notes of the meeting referred to a newly appointed individual rather than a 
newly created role.  The Contracts Manager’s salary is not part of the tender price.  The notes 
do not seem suggest that the Contracts Manager would exclusively work on the grass 
maintenance contract but would supervise same adequately and deal with all complaints in a 
timely manner.  As this is the 4th and final year of this contract everyone involved is more than 
familiar with their areas and the requirements of the contract. 
 
 

Page 22

mailto:parks@dublincity.ie


Summary of Strategic Housing 
Development (SHD) in Dublin 9 

North Central Area Committee I 15th June 2020 

P
age 23



Strategic Housing Developments in Dublin 9 

Applications for Strategic Housing Developments (SHD’s) are made directly to An Bord 

Pleanala (ABP) in order to fast track large scale housing development under Rebuilding 

Ireland.

• Following a pre-application process, SHD applications for 100+ houses or 200+ 

student accommodation bedspaces are made directly to An Bord Pleanala 

• Planning Authority sends report of Chief Executive to ABP within 8 weeks

• Report of Chief Executive includes a summary of the views expressed by elected 

members at the Area Committee

• ABP decision to grant or refuse permission within 16 weeks

North Central Area Committee I 15th June 2020 

P
age 24



Strategic Housing Developments in Dublin 9 

Summary of SHD’s in Dublin 9

• A total of 8 no. SHD applications were submitted in the Dublin 9 area between 

December 2018 and the 2nd June 2020. 4 no. SHD applications were granted 

permission by ABP totalling 596 no. residential units & 1,240 student accommodation 

bedspaces.  1 no. SHD application was refused permission by ABP totalling 299 no. 

residential units. There are 3 no. current applications awaiting decision totalling 458 

no. residential units.

SHD Applications No. Total Units

Grant permission 4 596no. units 
& 1,240 student accommodation bedspaces

Refuse permission
1

299no. units

Current applications 3 458no. units

North Central Area Committee I 15th June 2020 

P
age 25



P
age 26



Strategic Housing Developments in Dublin 9

Map 
Key

DCC Reg. 
Ref.

ABP-Ref Location Proposed Development Summary

Application 
Submission 

Date

ABP 
Decision

Decision 
Date

No. Units

A SHD0001/19 ABP-

303358-
19

Lands at Swiss 

Cottage, Swords 
Road and 

Schoolhouse Lane, 
Santry, Dublin 9

• "Build to Rent" Scheme 

• 112 units (13no. 1-bedroom & 99no. 
2-bedroom)

• 3-6 storey’s over partial basement
• 3no. commercial units at ground 

floor level

• 34no. Car parking spaces
• 168no. bicycle parking spaces

02/01/2019 Grant 

Permission

02/04/2019 110no. Units

B SHD0004/18 ABP 

303296-
18

Griffith Avenue, 

Marino, Dublin 9
• 385 no. units (377 no. apartments & 

8 no. 5 bedroom two and a half storey 
terraced houses) 

• 377 apartment units comprising 
23no. studio, 115no. 1-bedroom, 190 

2-bedroom & 49 3-bedroom

• Apartment units contained  within 7 
blocks (4-8 storey’s)

• Mixed use building (crèche, 
café/multi-purpose unit & residential 

amenity area)

• 367no. car parking spaces
• 682no. bicycle parking spaces.

20/12/2018 Grant 

Permission

27/03/2019 385no. Units

North Central Area Committee I 15th June 2020 

P
age 27



Strategic Housing Developments in Dublin 9

Map 
Key

DCC Reg. 
Ref.

ABP-Ref Location Proposed Development Summary

Application 
Submission 

Date

ABP 
Decision

Decision 
Date

No. of 
Permitted 

Units

C SHD0006/19 ABP-

304061-
20

High Park, Grace 

Park Road, 
Drumcondra, Dublin 

9

• Application site contains a Protected 

Structure
• 101 units (40no. 1-bedroom, 36no. 

2-bedroom & 25no. 3-bedroom) 
• 3 blocks (2-5 storey’s)

• 140 car parking spaces

• 120 bicycle parking spaces

26/03/2019 Grant 

Permission

12/07/2019 101no. Units

D SHD0019/19 ABP-

305405-
19

Dublin City 

University, DCU 
Glasnevin Campus, 

Collins Avenue 
Extension, Dublin 9

• Student Accommodation Scheme

• 1,240no. bedspaces in 213 cluster 
units

• 7no. blocks (5-10 storey’s)
• Student residents management 

office, retail/café/educational unit

• 176no. car parking spaces
• 620 bicycle parking spaces

11/09/2019 Grant 

Permission

18/12/2019 1,240no. 

Bedspaces 
/213 cluster 

units 
(student 

accommodat

ion)

North Central Area Committee I 15th June 2020 

P
age 28



Strategic Housing Developments in Dublin 9 

Map 
Key

DCC Reg. 
Ref.

ABP-Ref Location Proposed Development Summary

Application 
Submission 

Date

ABP 
Decision

Decision 
Date

No. of 
Permitted 

Units

E SHD0005/19 ABP-

303875-
19

Daneswell Place, 

Former 
Printworks/Smurfit 

Site,  Botanic Road, 
Glasnevin, Dublin 9

• Amendment to residential scheme 

permitted under Reg. Ref. 3665/15 
(ABP Ref. PL29N.246124), 4267/17, 

2133/18 and 4306/18
• 299no. apartment units(112no. 1-

bedroom, 178no. 2-bedroom & 9no. 

3-bedroom)
• Creche, 1no. café/retail unit, 1no. 

medical consultant unit, residential 
and communal amenity facilities

• 5no. blocks (5-9 storey’s over 

basement)
• 171 no car parking spaces

• 478no. bicycle parking spaces

06/03/2019 Refuse 

Permission

18/06/2019 299no. Units

F SHD0002/20 ABP-

306721-
20

Bonnington, 

(formerly Regency 
Hotel), Swords 

Road, Whitehall, 
Dublin 9

• “Build to Rent” Scheme 

• 124 no. units (8no. 1-bedroom & 76 
2-bedroom)

• 2no. blocks (5 – 6 no. storeys) 
• 54 no. car-parking spaces

• 150 no. bicycle parking spaces

24/02/2020 Live 

Application

Decision 

Due 
15/06/2020

124no. Units

North Central Area Committee I 15th June 2020 

P
age 29



Strategic Housing Developments in Dublin 9 

Map 
Key

DCC Reg. 
Ref.

ABP-Ref Location Proposed Development Summary

Application 
Submission 

Date

ABP 
Decision

Decision 
Date

No. of 
Permitted 

Units

G SHD0005/20 ABP-

306987-
20

Lands at former 

Swiss Cottage, 
Swords Road and 

Schoolhouse 
Lane,Santry, Dublin 

9

• "Build to Rent" Scheme 

• 120 apartment units (26no. 1-
bedroom, 91no. 2-bedroom & 3no. 3-

bedroom)
• 3-7 storey’s over partial basement

• 3no. commercial units at ground 

floor level
• 36no. Car parking spaces

• 183no. bicycle parking spaces

23/03/2020 Live 

Application

Decision 

Due 
13/07/2020

10no. Units 

(addiitonal 
units 

proposed on 
top of 110no. 

Units 

permitted 
under Ref. 

ABP-
303358-19)

H SHD0006/20 ABP-

307011-
20

Lands to the 

northeast of Omni 
Park Shopping 

Centre including 
vacant warehouse, 

Swords Road, 

Santry, Dublin 9

324no. apartment units (19no. studio, 

126no. 1-bedroom & 179no. 2-
bedroom)

• 5-12 storey’s over basement level (3 
no. blocks)

• 1no. café/retail unit, crèche, 81no. 

bedroom aparthotel
• 162no. basement car parking 

spaces & 48no. surface level car 
parking spaces

• 380no. bicycle parking spaces

27/03/2020 Live 

Application

Decision 

Due 
16/07/2020

324no. Units

North Central Area Committee I 15th June 2020 

P
age 30



 

 

Report on Potential Strategy to Address Illegal Dumping 

To the chairperson and members of the North Central Area Committee, 

The issue of illegal dumping tends to have 2 distinct areas of offence, investigation and 

enforcement. 

1. The first is the illegal collection and disposal of waste by unauthorised collectors – 

enforceable under the Waste Management Act and enforced by Waste Enforcement 

officers 

 

2. The second, and more commonly encountered on a day to day basis and which has a 

significant visual and environmental impact on the community, is the dumping of 

domestic waste and junk by householders within their own community – enforceable 

under the Litter Pollution Act and enforced by authorised officers 

The methods of enforcement that are generally used in relation to the dumping of waste by 

householders are set out below: 

3. Investigation of dumped waste to establish offender details 

4. Use of CCTV to identify offender details 

5. Enforcement of Waste Bye Laws regarding requirement to use authorised waste 

collector or civic amenity facilities to dispose of waste. 

A combination of all 3 avenues of investigation is the most aggressive or focused form of 

enforcement that it is possible to carry out. 

This could be strengthened further by the cooperation of Waste Enforcement Unit wherever 

there is a suspicion or evidence of illegal activity referred to in point 1. above. 

Any or all of these avenues of investigation may be carried out in a planned and targeted 

manner working in conjunction with local area management and public domain teams.   

Such a plan of action would involve the dedication of resources both locally and centrally and 

there would be a cost involved in implementing a specific enforcement regime that would be 

dependent on the extent and scope of the project. 

It should be noted that Dublin City Council will be beginning to roll out a formal enforcement 

campaign based on point 5. above.  This is commencing shortly with a trial process to ensure 

that the system and processes are effective and will be implemented further following a 

successful outcome of that trial. 

It is possible that additional resources could be allocated to the formal enforcement campaign 

to focus on specific areas within the North Central administrative area as an element of any 

overall strategy. 

Page 31



Any strategy would require buy in and the involvement of a number of internal and external 

stakeholders including but not limited to the following potential members: 

Waste Management 

Housing  

Area Management 

Public Domain 

Community Development 

An Garda Siochana 

Local Community Service Providers and NGO’s 

Waste Enforcement 

A sample step by step implementation and enforcement plan is set out below that may be 

used as a template to consider how best to proceed with the development of any strategy or 

action plan. 

 

Sample Implementation and Enforcement Plan 

Set out below are what is considered to be a reasonable and proportionate scale of action 
that escalates in the event that measureable improvements are not realised from the actions 
already implemented. 

The timeline of escalation should be decided upon based upon the effectiveness of each step 
and the severity of the level of offence. 

The actions are not exhaustive. Dublin City Council will endeavour to be innovative and use 
all aspects of any applicable legislation that may assist in the prevention, reduction or 
prosecution of offences. These actions may be updated from time to time as new operating 
procedures, resources or technologies are identified. 

1. Identification of blackspots : - this may be done by a number of means including, but 
not restricted to, the mapping of CRM Data or Local Area 
Office/Departmental operational knowledge 

2. The inclusion of additional informational signage within the area with a tailored 
message related to ongoing offences. 

3. Evidence recovery from identified sites. These may be specific streets / laneways / 
green spaces or areas containing a multitude of locations depending on the scale of 
the offences. 

4. Official correspondence to each applicable residence or commercial premises within 
the area. 

5. Identification where possible of owners and responsible persons within residences, 
multi-let or commercial premises. 

Page 32



6. Official correspondence with identified individuals. 
7. Door to door compliance surveys to be undertaken. 
8. Issuing of advisory notices re non- compliance. 
9. Upon completion of satisfactory DPIA - Installation of targeted CCTV (and associated 

signage) to identify offenders. 

(The items in bold print indicate steps at which enforcement action will be taken through the 
issuing of fixed penalty notices or direct prosecutions) 

This report is submitted for the consideration and debate of the members. 

 

 

Page 33





To the Lord Mayor and     Report No.       169 of 2020 

Members of Dublin City Council   Report of Assistant Chief Executive 

 

 

 

 

Dublin City Council Housing Delivery Report – June 2020 

The current four-year housing programme 2018-2021 began in January 2018.The total 

delivery target for this four-year period in Dublin City is 9,094. This target figure includes 

Local Authority New Build, Acquisitions, Refurbishment/voids, Leasing and Part V. It also 

includes similar activity by Approved Housing Bodies (AHB’s).  

Separate targets are set for the Housing Assistance Payment Scheme (HAP).   
 
The projected delivery for the complete (2018-2021) programme was: 

Programmes 2018 2019 2020 2021 Total 

New Build – DCC   271 302 455 1,860 2,888 

New Build – AHB’s   403 343 284 609 1,639 

Part V    71 207 400 400 1,078   

Voids Restored by DCC   300  58 58 58   474 

Total new build 1,045 910 1,197 2,927 6,079 

Long Term Leasing   440 460 495 498 1,893 

Acquisitions   278 254 295 295 1,122 

Total Delivery 
 

1,763 
 

1,624 1,987 3,720 9,094 
 

HAP Tenancies 
(Homeless, DRHE) 

   585 1,276 1,500 1,500 4,861 

HAP Tenancies (Mainstream)  2,040   739   780    825 4,384 

HAP Tenancies (Rent 
Supplement) 

 2,068 1,530   780    825 5,203 

Total HAP Output 
 

4,693 
 

3,545 3,060 3,150 14,448 

Additional Voids Restored  571   725   800   800   2,896 

Overall Total 7,027 5,894 5,847 7,670 26,438 

 
Brendan Kenny 

Deputy Chief Executive    

8th June 2020 

Page 35



Homes Under Construction 

Committee 
Area 

Provider Schemes Funding 
Stream 

Units Status Next Mile Stone Finish 
Date 

North Central DCC Ayrefield 
DC-0004 

Housing PPP 150 On site Completion of scheme Q2 2021 

North Central AHB  
(Respond) 

Chanel Manor, 
Coolock D.5 

CALF 65 On site Completion of scheme Q3 2021 

North Central DCC 
(Rapid build) 

Bunratty Road 
D.17  

LA Housing 78 On site Completion of scheme Q1 2021 

South East AHB  
(Fold) 

St. Agnes’s 
Armagh Road   

CALF 59 On site - Turnkey Completion of scheme  
 

Q2 2020 
 

South East AHB  
(Tuath) 

Ravensdale 
Court D.12 

CALF 12 On site - Turnkey Completion of scheme Q4 2020 

South East DCC Moss Street, 
D.2 

LA Housing 22 On site Completion of scheme Q4 2020 
 

South East AHB  
(PMVT) 

New street, D.8 CAS 8 On site Completion of scheme Q2 2021 

South Central DCC 
In House 

St. Teresa’s 
Gardens, D.8 

Regeneration 54 On site Completion of scheme Q3 2020 

South Central AHB  
(Alone) 

Jamestown 
Court, D.8 

CALF 12 On site Completion of scheme Q3 2020 

South Central DCC Cornamona, 
Ballyfermot 

LA Housing 61 On site Completion of scheme Q2 2021 

South Central DCC 
(Rapid build) 

Bonham Street LA Housing 57 On site Completion of scheme Q1 2021 

South Central DCC 
(Rapid build) 

Springvale, D.20 LA Housing 71 On site Completion of scheme Q2 2021 

South Central DCC 
(Rapid build) 

Cork/Chamber 
Street, D.8 

LA Housing 55 On site Completion of scheme Q2 2021 

South Central AHB  
(Oaklee) 

30-35 Bow Lane 
D.8 

CALF 16 On site - Turnkey Completion of scheme Q3 2020 

South Central 
 

AHB  
(Respond) 

Bluebell Avenue CALF 52 On site - Turnkey Completion of scheme Q3 2021 

South Central 
 

AHB 
(Tuath) 

Camac Grove 
Bluebell, D.12 
 

CALF 5 On site - Turnkey Completion of scheme Q3 2020 

South Central 
 

AHB  
(Tuath) 

Lough Conn Rd 
Ballyfermot D.10 
 

CALF 4 On site - Turnkey Completion of scheme Q4 2020 

P
age 36



Homes Under Construction 

Committee 
Area 

Provider Schemes Funding 
Stream 

Units Status Next Mile Stone Finish 
Date 

South Central AHB  
(Oaklee) 

Cromwellsfort 
Road, D.12 
 

CALF 12 On site - Turnkey Completion of scheme Q3 2020 

South Central AHB  
(Tuath) 

Park West, 
D.12 

CALF 58 On site - Turnkey Completion of scheme Q2 2021 

South Central 
AHB  
(Tuath) 

Park West, 
D.12 CAS 43 On site - Turnkey Completion of scheme Q1 2021 

South Central 
AHB 
(Cluid) 

Tramyard 
Exchange, 
Carmans Hall, 
D,8 CALF 15 On site 

 
 
Completion of scheme Q4 2020 

Central 
 

AHB 
(Paddy Mc 
Grath Project) 

Dominick Place 
 

CALF 
 

9 
 

On site 
 

Completion of scheme 
 

Q3 2020 
 

Central DCC 
In House 

O’ Devaney 
Gardens, D.7 

Regeneration 56 On site Completion of scheme Q1 2021 

Central DCC Dominick Street  Regeneration 72 On site Completion of scheme Q2 2021 

Central AHB  
(CHI) 

North King St  CALF 30 On site Completion of scheme Q4 2021 
 

Central 
 

DCC 
In House 

North King St  
 

LA Housing 
 

30 
 

On site 
 

Completion of scheme 
 

Q1 2021 
 

Central AHB  
(Tuath) 

Ellis Court, D.7 CAS 22 On site Completion of scheme Q2 2021 

Central AHB  
(Clanmil) 

Dorset Street CALF 9 On site - Turnkey Completion of scheme Q3 2020 

North West DCC Scribblestown 
DC-0010 

Housing PPP 70 On site Completion of scheme Q3 2020 

North West AHB  
(Tuath) 

Willow Park, 
D.11 

CAS 2 On site - Turnkey Completion of scheme Q4 2020 

North West AHB  
(Clanmil) 

Aughrim Street, 
Stoneybatter, 
D.7 

CALF 4 On site - Turnkey Completion of scheme Q1 2021 

   TOTAL 1,213    

 

P
age 37



Schemes at Tender Stage 

Committee 
Area 

Provider Schemes Funding 
Stream 

Units Status Next Milestone Finish 
Date 

Central DCC Croke Villas, D.3 Regeneration 61 Judicial review initiated 
December 2018  

Awaiting decision from 
Judicial review 

2021 

Central DCC Sackville Ave, 
D.3 

Regeneration 11+3 Out to tender for the 11 units 
end of May 

Award of contract 2021 

Central  DCC Housing 
Land Initiative 
 

O’ Devaney 
Gardens 

Joint Venture 192 Development Agreement 
signed Dec 9th 2019. Three 
month extension given to 
submit planning application. 

Submission to ABP by 
September 6th 2020 

TBC 

South East AHB 
(PMVT) 

Townsend Street 
180-187, D.4 

CAS 20 Agreement reached with 
commercial tenants. PMVT to 
recommence project. 

Award of contract Q4 2021 

South East AHB  
(Cluid) 

Bethany House, 
D.4 

CALF 62 Re- tender in progress Award of contract 2022 

South Central AHB  
(Dublin Simon) 

25/26 Ushers 
Island, D.8 

CAS 100 Tender assessment underway Award of contract Q2 2021 

North Central  DCC Housing 
Land Initiative 

Oscar Traynor 
Road 

Joint venture 300 Clarifications completed by 
DCC May 28th. Responses due 
back June 11th  

Award of contract and 
Section 183 

TBC 

North Central AHB  
(Respond) 

Highpark, 
Gracepark Rd,  

CALF 101 Planning permission granted 
by An Bord Pleanala July 2019 

Respond anticipate being on 
site before year end. 

2022 

North West AHB  
(Novas) 

Ratoath Avenue 
D.7 

CAS 6 Re tendering process 
completed 

Appoint contractor and 
commence on site 

Q1 2021 

   TOTAL 856    

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 38



Homes Currently Being Acquired 

Committee 
Area 

Provider Schemes Funding 
Stream 

Units Status Next Milestone Finish 
Date 

All Areas DCC General 
Acquisitions 

LA Housing 135 With Law Department Closing of acquisitions 
ongoing 

2020 

All Areas AHB General and 
Special Needs 

CALF 83 Various proposals in progress Closing of acquisitions 2020 

All Areas AHB General and 
Special Needs 

CAS 15 Various proposals in progress Closing of acquisitions 2020 

North West DCC Prospect Hill 
Turnkey, D.11 

LA Housing 58 Snagging process commenced Closing of acquisitions 2020 

   TOTAL 291    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 39



Part V Acquisitions (Approved) 

Committee area Provider Schemes Funding 
Stream 

Units Status Next Milestone Finish 
Date 

North Central DCC St. Joseph’s 
School, D.9 

LA Housing 14 Funding approved Units to be acquired Q1 2020 

North Central DCC Poplar Road, 
Dublin 3 

LA 
Housing/Leasing 

3 Agreement in place Units to be acquired Q4 2021 

South East DCC Block H Mount 
Argus Dublin 6 

LA Housing 13 Agreement in place Units to be acquired Q1  2020 

South East DCC St. Pancras, D.6 
Harold’s Cross 

LA Housing  7 Agreement in place Units to be acquired Q1  2020 

South East DCC Whitfield Grove, 
D.6 

LA Housing 1 Agreement in place Units to be acquired Q1  2020 

South East DCC Tara Towers 
Off Site 

LA Housing 7 Agreement in place Units to be acquired Q3 2020 

South East DCC Cardiff Lane 
Off Site 

LA Housing 5 Agreement in place Units to be acquired Q2  2020 

South East DCC Sandymount 
Castle Park 

LA Housing 2 Agreement in place Units to be acquired Q4  2020 

South Central DCC Former Dulux 
factory site, 
Davitt Rd 

LA 
Housing/Leasing 

26 Agreement in place Units to be acquired Q1 2022 

South Central DCC Herberton 
Rialto, D.8 

LA Housing 39 Agreement in place 
(Works Required) 

Units to be acquired Q2  2020 

South Central DCC Drimnagh Road LA Housing  1 Agreement in place Lease agreement to be 
signed 

Q1  2020 

South Central DCC Black and Amber 
Pub-Off Site 

LA Housing 2 Agreement in place Units to be acquired Q2  2020 

South Central DCC Cromwellsfort 
Court D.2 

LA Housing 1 Agreement in place Units to be acquired Q3  2020 

Central DCC Block B Dublin 
Landings, D.2 

LA Housing 30 Agreement in place Units to be acquired Q3  2020 

Central DCC Pelletstown, D.15 LA Housing 16 Agreement in place Units to be acquired Q1  2020 

North West DCC Ballygall Road 
West D.11 

LA Housing 3 Agreement in place CHI acquiring units Q4  2020 

   TOTAL 170    

 

P
age 40



Projects at an Advanced Stage of Planning or Design 

Committee 
Area 

Provider Schemes Funding 
Stream 

Units Status Next Milestone Finish 
Date 

Central DCC 
In House 

Infirmary Road, 
D.8 

LA Housing 38 Detailed design development Out to tender Q4 2020 2021 

Central AHB 
(Dublin Simon) 

Arbour Hill, D.7 CAS 14 Pre tender stage Stage 3 approval  2021 

Central DCC Dorset Street 
Flats, D.1 

LA Housing 158 Design Team Appointed  
 

Lodge Part 8 2020 TBC 

Central DCC St. Finbar’s 
Court, D.7 

LA Housing 46 Stage 2 approval granted May 
2020 

Out to tender Nov 2020 TBC 

Central DCC James Mc 
Sweeney House, 
Berkeley St, D.7 

LA Housing 35 Planning permission granted to 
AHB. DCC to take over 
property and project 

Stage 1 Approval Q2 2022 

Central AHB  
(Cluid) 

North Great 
Charles St, D.1 
 

CALF 53 Agreement signed with St 
Michaels House. Legals being 
completed 

Planning application to 
be lodged June/July 

2020 

Central AHB  
(Circle) 

Railway Street, 
D.1 

CALF 47 Approved by ABP Feb 2020 Commence tender 
process 

Q3 2021 

South East AHB  
(PMVT) 

Shaw Street, D.8 
 

CAS 12 Planning lodged 23/12/19. 
Additional information lodged 
by PMVT 5th May 2020 

Planning Approval 2021 

South East DCC 
(Rapid build) 

St. Andrew’s 
Court, D.2 
 

LA Housing 42 Design Team procurement 
initiated March 13th return date 
of June 3rd 

Appoint Design Team  
 

TBC 

South East DCC Charlemont 
(Block 4), D.20 

PPP 15 DCC to exercise an option to 
acquire further units  

Agree costs with 
developer 

2020 

North Central DCC 
In House 

Belcamp B, D.17 LA Housing 12 Approval in principle from  
Area Committee and DHPLG  

Lodge Part 8 June 2020 2021 

North Central DCC 
(Rapid build) 

Woodville, D.5 LA Housing 36 Design of scheme underway Lodge Part 8 Q3 2020 TBC 

North Central DCC 
(Rapid build) 

Cromcastle 
Court, D.10 

LA Housing 120 Design of scheme underway Lodge Part 8 Q3 2020 TBC 

North Central DCC 
(Rapid build) 

Slademore, 
Ayrefield, D.13 
 

LA Housing 42 Design of scheme underway Lodge Part 8 Q4 2020 TBC 

North Central DCC Glin Court, D.17 
 

LA Housing 36 Design of scheme underway Part 8 October 2020 TBC 

P
age 41



Projects at an Advanced Stage of Planning or Design 

Committee 
Area 

Provider Schemes Funding 
Stream 

Units Status Next Milestone Finish 
Date 

North Central AHB  
(FOLD) 

Millwood Court, 
D.5 

CALF 60 Plans developed by FOLD 
Initiate Part 8 

Part 8 Approval TBC 

North Central AHB  
(Cluid) 

Thatch Road, D.9 
Swords Road  

LA Housing 100 Design in progress Planning Approval 2021 

South Central DCC 
(Rapid build) 

Grand Canal 
Basin, D.8 

LA Housing 80 Design Team procurement 
return date of June 3rd 2020 

Appoint Design Team  
 

TBC 

South Central 
 

DCC 
(Rapid build) 

Rafters Road 
/Crumlin Rd 

LA Housing 45 Design Team procurement 
return date of June 3rd 2020 

Appoint Design Team  TBC 

South Central AHB 
(Alone/Circle) 

1b St. Michael’s 
Estate, D.10 

CAS 52 Planning permission granted. 
Stage 3 received 22/05/20  

Commence Tender 
Process 

2022 

South Central DCC St Michaels 
Estate, D.8 

LA Housing 
Mixed 
scheme 

109 Design Team appointed May 
2020 

Lodge planning April 
2021 

TBC 

South Central AHB  
(Novas) 

Kilmainham, D.8 CAS 11 Site transferred to DCC by 
Department of Justice 

Section 183 to issue Q2 2022 

South Central AHB  
(Respond) 

Sarsfield Road, 
OLV Centre, 
D.10 

LA Housing 6 Site investigation works 
commenced 20/05/20 

Procure design team Q2 2021 

South Central DCC 
In House 

Dolphin Phase 2, 
D.8 

Regeneration 30 Phase 1B (30 units) design 
review underway 

Finalise scheme design   2022 

South Central AHB  
(Circle) 

Coruba House, 
D.12 

CALF 36 Design received, potential to 
develop adjacent lands 

Circle to revert following 
consultation with 
adjoining landowner 

2020 

South Central AHB  
(Respond) 

Lar Redmond 
Centre, D.12 

LA Housing 10 Draft proposal submitted to 
include adjacent site in plans 

Capital appraisal to be 
submitted 

2021 

South Central DCC 31 Croftwood 
Drive, D.10 

LA Housing 2 Pre part 8 circulation 
commenced end of March 

Part 8 Approval TBC 

North West DCC Kildonan Lands, 
D.11 

LA Housing 166 Outline proposal and CEA 
currently with the DHPLG 

Tender for Design Team  TBC 

North West AHB  
(Novas) 

307 Casement 
Road, D.11 

LA Housing 2 Single stage approval received Out to Tender Q2 2021 

North West AHB  
(Novas) 

13 Casement 
Drive, D.11 

LA Housing 2 Single stage approval received 
Boundary issue on site 

Out to Tender Q3 2021 

   TOTAL 1,417    

 

P
age 42



Schemes at Preliminary Planning or Feasibility Stage 

Committee 
Area 

Provider Schemes Funding 
Stream 

Units Status Next Milestone Finish 
Date 

Central DCC Ready Mix Site, 
East Wall Road, D.3 
 

Social 
Housing PPP 

100 Designated a Social Housing 
Development 

Feasibility Study  TBC 

Central DCC Matt Talbot Court 
D.1 

LA Housing-
Regeneration 

92 Costs being updated. CEA 
being completed 

Tender for Design 
Team 

TBC 

Central DCC Dunne Street, 
D.1 

LA Housing-
Regeneration 

130 Costs being updated. CEA 
being completed 

Tender for Design 
Team 

TBC 

Central DCC Russell Street, 
D.1 

LA Housing 60 Feasibility Study underway Plan to be devised for 
social housing scheme 

 

Central DCC Constitution Hill, 
D.7 

LA Housing-
Regeneration 

100 Revised CEA completed and 
submitted to DHPLG 

Tender for Design 
Team 

TBC 

Central DCC Depot 
Site 

Broombridge Road, 
D.7 

LA Housing 15 Feasibility study completed Plan to be devised for 
social housing scheme 

TBC 

Central DCC Bannow Road (2.8 
Acres), D.7 

LA Housing 100 Feasibility study underway Plan to be devised for 
social housing scheme 

TBC 

Central DCC Depot 
Site 

Portland Row, D.1 
 

LA Housing 35 Feasibility study underway 
 

Plan to be devised for 
social housing scheme 

TBC 

Central DCC Depot 
Site 

Orchard Road, D.3 
 

LA Housing 32 Feasibility study complete Plan to be devised for 
social housing scheme 

TBC 

Central DCC Dominick Street 
West 
 

LA Housing-
Regeneration 

90 Feasibility study complete Plan to be devised for 
social housing scheme 

TBC 

Central 
 

DCC Depot 
Site 

Stanley Street, D.7 LA Housing 275 Feasibility study complete Plan to be developed 
for mixed scheme  

TBC 

Central 
 
 

DCC St Bricin’s, D.7 LA Housing   5 Feasibility study complete Plan to be devised for 
social housing scheme 

TBC 

South Central 
 

DCC 
(Rapid build) 

Lissadell Maisonettes 
 
 

LA Housing-
Regeneration 

70 Potential Social Housing 
Development 

Determine development 
options and devise plan 

TBC 

South Central DCC Depot 
Site 

Garryowen Road, 
D.10 
 

LA Housing 34 Potential Social Housing 
Development 

Determine development 
options and devise plan 

TBC 

South Central DCC Depot 
Site 

Davitt Road, D.12 
 
 

LA Housing 70 Potential Social Housing 
Development 

Determine development 
options and devise plan 

TBC 

P
age 43



Schemes at Preliminary Planning or Feasibility Stage 

Committee 
Area 

Provider Schemes Funding 
Stream 

Units Status Next Milestone Finish 
Date 

South Central DCC Depot 
Site 

Forbes Lane, D.8 LA Housing 100 Title survey underway Tender to panel for 
feasibility 

TBC 

South Central DCC/AHB Sarsfield Road 
D.10 
 

LA Housing  
CALF 

180 Design brief agreed (social 
housing and senior citizens) 

Layouts to be produced 
by June (in house) 

TBC 

South Central DCC Ravensdale  
Close, D.12 
 

LA Housing 16 Feasibility study currently 
underway 

Feasibility report 
complete July 2020 

TBC 

South Central DCC Clonmacnoise 
Grove, D.12 
 

LA Housing 29 Feasibility study currently 
underway 

Feasibility report 
complete July 2020 

TBC 

South Central DCC Bernard Curtis 
House, D.12 

LA Housing-
Regeneration 

205 Feasibility study currently 
underway 

Feasibility report 
complete July 2020 

TBC 

South Central DCC Donore Avenue-
(Former St Teresa’s 
Gardens)  

LA Housing-
Regeneration 

350 Negotiations ongoing with 
adjacent Developer 

Planning Application by 
Developer 

TBC 

North Central 
 

DCC Depot 
Site 

Collins Avenue, D.9 
 

LA Housing 115 Potential Social Housing 
Development 

Determine development 
options 

TBC 

North Central DCC 
(Rapid build) 

Darndale Spine 
D.17  
 

LA Housing   70 Site review currently being 
conducted 

Procure design team 
from framework 

TBC 

North Central DCC 
(Rapid build) 

Belcamp Site E 
D.17 
 

LA Housing  41 Site review currently being 
conducted 

Procure design team 
from framework 

TBC 

North Central DCC Mount Dillon Court, 
D.5 
 

LA Housing- 
Regeneration 

45 Feasibility study currently 
underway 

Feasibility report 
complete Sept 2020 

TBC 

North Central  DCC Collins Avenue D9 
Junction of swords 
Road 

Social 
Housing PPP 

100 Designated a Social Housing 
Development 

Feasibility study TBC 

North Central DCC Gorsefield Court, D.5 
 

LA Housing- 
Regeneration 

90 Feasibility study currently 
underway 

Feasibility report 
complete June 2020 

TBC 

North Central DCC St Anne’s Court, D.5 LA Housing- 
Regeneration 

51 Feasibility study complete Plan to be devised for 
social housing scheme 

TBC 

South East DCC Depot 
Site 

Gulistan Terrace, D.6 LA Housing 100 Feasibility study complete Plan to be developed 
for mixed use scheme  

TBC 

P
age 44



Schemes at Preliminary Planning or Feasibility Stage 

Committee 
Area 

Provider Schemes Funding 
Stream 

Units Status Next Milestone Finish 
Date 

North West 
 
 
 

DCC Church of the 
Annunciation, 
Finglas, D.11 

LA Housing 45 Feasibility study complete  Plan to be devised for 
social housing scheme 

TBC 

North West DCC Shangan Road, 
Ballymun 

Social 
Housing PPP 

100 Designated a Social Housing 
Development 

Feasibility study TBC 

   TOTAL 2,845    

 

 

Traveller Accommodation Programme 

Projects Provider Scheme Funding 
Scheme 

Units Status Next Milestone Finish 
Date 

Single Stage DCC Naas Road LA Housing 3 Detailed design Sewerage connection 
issues to be resolved 

Q4 2020 

Single Stage DCC Avila Park LA Housing 3 Detailed design Part 8 application  
Q1 2020 

Q2 2021 

Single Stage DCC Reuben Street LA Housing 1 Detailed design Part 8 application  
Q1 2020 

Q4 2020 

Stage 1 DCC Grove Lane LA Housing 10 Preliminary design and 
consultation 

Issues have arisen, 
consultation stalled 

2021 

Stage 1 DCC Cara Park LA Housing 8 Preliminary design and 
consultation 

Part 8 application  
Q2 2020 

2020/2021 

Stage 1 DCC Cara Park LA Housing 2 Preliminary design and 
consultation 

Part 8 application  
Q2 2020 

2020/2021 

Stage 2 DCC Labre Park 
(Phase 2/3) 

LA Housing 28 Consultation complete. Design 
frozen 

Part 8 application  
Q1 2020 

2020/2023 

Stage 1 DCC St. Mary’s LA Housing 1 Preliminary design and 
consultation 
 

Detailed design 
Needs agreement from 
Fingal 

2020 

   TOTAL 56    

 

 

P
age 45



Summary 2020 Long Term Lease Delivery Units 

Total Expected Delivery 2020 150 

New application proposals 250 

Enhanced Lease Proposals (units will not be completed until end of 2021) 225 

Overall potential for Long Term Lease as at June 2020 655 

  

  

 

Vacant (Void) Property Refurbishments: Completed to end of May 2020 
 

      

Totals by Area  Central 
North 
Central North West 

South 
Central South East Total  

House  8 45 41 34 8 136 

Apartment 28 7 19 35 39 128 

Senior Citizens  6 39 24 31 14 114 

Total  42 91 84 100 61 378 

 

These properties can be divided into: Vacant Council Properties: 257 Acquisitions: 121 

Current Refurbishment of voids underway 

       

Status  Central 
North 
Central North West 

South 
Central South East Total  

For or with 
Framework  70 51 49 77 54 301 

Direct Labour  19 30 34 18 15 116 

Total  89 81 83 95 69 417 

 

P
age 46



 

Buy and Renew Scheme: Derelict/Vacant properties 2020  

Status of properties (31) below acquired under the Derelict Sites Act/CPO and Acquisition process under the Buy and Renew Scheme  

 Property  Position  

6 Creighton Street, Dublin 2 Stabilisation works completed. Estimated Completion is Q4 2020 

6 Nelson St, Dublin 7 Refurbishment works in progress. Estimated completion Q3 2020 

77 & 77A & 78 The Coombe Dublin 8 Contractor appointed. Estimated completion Q3 2020 

32 Harold Road, Stoney Batter, Dublin 7 Refurbishment works in progress. Estimated completion Q2 2020 

33 Harold Road, Stoney Batter, Dublin 7 Refurbishment works in progress. Estimated completion Q2 2020 

17/17A St James Terrace, Dublin 8 Refurbishment works in progress. Estimated completion Q2 2020 

142 Harold’s Cross Road, Dublin 6 Appoint contractor. Estimated completion Q4 2020 

144 Harold’s Cross Road, Dublin 6 Appoint contractor. Estimated completion date Q3 2020 

35 Malahide Road, Dublin 5 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q2 2020 

10 Hazelcroft Gardens, Dublin 11 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q2 2020 

25A Barnmore, Finglas, Dublin 11 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q3 2020 

22 Derry Road, Crumlin, Dublin 12 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q2 2020 

19 Connaught Street, Dublin 7 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q4 2020 

21 Connaught Street, Dublin 7 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q4 2020 

414 North Circular Road Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q4 2020 

109 Connaught Street, Dublin 7 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q4 2020 

56 Moatview Drive, Dublin 17 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q2 2020 

15 Parkview Green, Ballymun, Dublin 11 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q4 2020 

P
age 47



 Property  Position  

1 Tyrells Place, Dublin 1 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q4 2021 

2 Tyrells Place, Dublin 1 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q4 2021 

3 Tyrells Place, Dublin 1 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q4 2021 

4 Tyrells Place, Dublin 1 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q4 2021 

5 Tyrells Place, Dublin 1 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q4 2021 

6 Tyrells Place, Dublin 1 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q4 2021 

8 Tyrells Place, Dublin 1 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q4 2021 

471 North Circular Road, Dublin 1 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q4 2020 

65 Killester Drive, Dublin 5 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q4 2020 

48A Millwood Villas, Dublin 5 Appoint Contractor. Estimated completion date Q1 2021 

 

Vacant residential property acquisitions 

We are currently negotiating the acquisition of 6 additional vacant residential properties under the buy and renew scheme.  

 

Current processes underway to identify additional properties 

The City Council has established a communication forum with other Local Authorities, State Agencies and Approved Housing Bodies in relation to the 

recording and where possible the sharing of data on vacant properties.  

 

The Housing Department vacant housing register has recorded 642 residential properties by accessing data from the CSO, Geo-directory, Vacanthomes.ie 

and internal databases. The City Council has undertaken 362 site inspections with a further 20 inspections scheduled and 17 title searches currently in 

progress.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 48



 

Potential Affordable Purchase Homes 

Schemes/Sites Units Status Finish Date 

Ballymun O’Cualann (Sites 22 and 23), Dublin.11  39 On site Q1 2020  
(10 units) 
Q2 2020 
(29 units) 

Ballymun O’Cualann (Site 21), Dublin.11  13 Grant of permission for 13 no. Affordable 
Housing units appealed to ABP. Permission 
granted with revised conditions March 24th  

Q3 2021 
 

Ballymun; Balbutcher and Sillogue sites 12 & 14, Dublin.11 157 Design brief being prepared with a view to 
going to design framework the end of May 

TBC 

Ballymun – further sites, Dublin.11  200 Potential for development being explored TBC 

Cherry Orchard, Dublin.10 160 Design brief being prepared with a view to 
going to design framework the end of May 

TBC 

Cherry Orchard – further sites, Dublin.10 200 Potential for development being explored TBC 

Housing Land Initiative site – O’ Devaney Gardens   165 Development agreement with BARTRA 
signed December 2019 

TBC 

Housing Land Initiative site - Oscar Traynor Road 200 To go to Council in September TBC 

Belcamp/Oblate Lands, Coolock, D.17 300 An application is currently being put together 
for infrastructure to facilitate the development 
of the lands – URDF funds 

TBC 

Poolbeg SDZ 500 Feasibility stage TBC 

TOTAL 1,934   

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 49



 

Cost Rental Proposals 

Schemes/Sites Units Status Finish Date 

Emmet Road, D.8 (St. Michael’s)  375 Design Team Appointed May 2020. TBC 

Coultry Road, Ballymun, (Site 6) D.11  300 Negotiations are underway with a consortium 
of AHB’s.  

TBC 

Cherry Orchard, Parkwest  900 Discussions underway with the Land 
Development Agency regarding the 
development of the site. 

TBC 

Cromcastle (Underpass site) 100 Masterplan of site required. Discussions 
underway with regard to the best way to 
proceed. 

TBC 

Donore Avenue (St Teresa’s Gardens site) 350 Negotiations ongoing with Developer of 
Adjacent Lands.  

TBC 

TOTAL     2,025   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
      

 

 

 

 

 

 

       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

P
age 50



 

 

 

Appendix:     
        

 

 

The Dublin City Council Delivery Target for the three- year period 2015- 2017 was 3,347 Homes. 

                                                    Delivery Output 2015-2017 
 

Delivered through:       2015    2016    2017      Total                         -+% 

Construction by DCC 19 68 235   322 

Acquisition/Leasing by  DCC 263 259 165   687 

Construction by AHB’s 53 0 142   195 

Acquisition/Leasing by AHB’s 230 206 225   661 

Part V Acquisitions 0 25  56     81 

Voids Restored by DCC 1012 975 879 2866 

Delivery Total 1577 1533 1702 4812                            144% 

HAP Tenancies, Homeless (60% in the 

City) 
112 934 1579 2625 

HAP Tenancies, General     0     0 1040 1040 

Total Housing Output 1689 2467 4321 8477 

 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 51



 
 
 
 
The following table gives details of the targets and delivery outcomes for the first year of the four- year programme (2018): 
 

Programmes Target Delivery +_  

New Build – DCC 271 264   -7  

New Builds – AHB’s 403 282 -121  

Part V 71 105 +34  

Voids Restored by DCC 300 200 -100  

Sub Total Build/Delivery 1,045 851 -194 81% 

Acquisitions 278 545 +267  

Long Term Leasing 440   61 -379  

Total Target/Delivery 2018 1,763 1,457 -306 83% 

Additional voids restored 200   600 +400  

HAP Tenancies (Homeless)   585 1,186  +601  

HAP Tenancies (Mainstream) 2,040 1,023 -1,017  

HAP Tenancies (Rent Supplement) 2,068   302 -1,766  

Total HAP 4,693 2,511 -2,182  

Total Output 6,456 4,568 -1,488  71%  

 

Notes: The maximum number of voids allowed in the context of completions was 200. The target set by the Department originally was 300. The 

actual number of voids restored in 2018 was over 800. 

The number of Long Term leases under this new scheme was below target but such delivery was largely outside our control as it was dependent on 

interest from private developers/owners. 

P
age 52



The number of acquisitions exceeded the target by 267 that represented a major and speedy contribution to the needs of households on the waiting 

lists. The Homeless Hap figure does not include a further 800 tenancies achieved by DRHE outside our own administrative area (The three Counties). 

The target of 2,068 for conversion of Rent Supplement tenancies to HAP was not achieved as progress on that was largely outside our direct control. 

The following table gives details of the targets and delivery outcomes for the second year of the four- year programme (2019): 
 

 

Notes: The maximum number of voids allowed (Target) in the context of completions was 58. The number of Long Term leases under this new 

scheme was encouraging but below target, such delivery was largely outside our control as it was dependent on interest from private 

developers/owners. This scheme will make a much greater contribution in future years. 

The number of acquisitions exceeded the target by 293, and a total of 547 acquisitions during the year represented a major and speedy contribution 

to the needs of many households on the waiting lists. The number of Part V tenancies delivered was below the target because of less than anticipated 

Programmes Target Delivery +_  

New Build – DCC   302   90 -212  

New Builds – AHB’s   343  302  -41  

Part V   207  119 -88  

Voids Restored by DCC    58    58    0  

Acquisitions   254   547       +293  

Sub-Total 1,164 1,116 -48   96% 

Long Term Leasing   460   115 -345    

Total Target/Delivery 2019 1,624 1,231 -393  76% 

HAP Tenancies (Mainstream)  2,269  1,672   -597  

HAP Tenancies (Homeless)   1,267      1,164  -103  

 
Total HAP 
 

     
    3,536 

    
    2,836 

 
-709 

 

 
Total Overall Output 
 

 
5,160 

 
4,067 

 
   -1,409 

 
79% 

Additional voids restored.        + 783  

     

     

P
age 53



construction in the city, by the private building sector. The new build total was below target because a small number of schemes slipped into 2020 

for completion and we did not achieve any success on new turnkeys as we had hoped for, this was a reflection of the very difficult housing market 

prevailing in 2019. The DRHE also sourced a further over 300 Homeless HAP properties outside our administrative area but they will be reflected in 

the completion outcomes of the relevant County Councils. 

P
age 54



 

NORTH CENTRAL AREA COMMITTEE 

DUBLIN CITY SPORT & WELLBEING PARTNERSHIP REPORT JUNE 2020 

 

  
Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Partnership (DCSWP) on the ground programmes continue to 
be suspended however supporting people to stay active and healthy during these 
unprecedented times remains our goal via the following: 

1) Ongoing Temporary Reassignment of Sport Officers to the North Central Area 

COVID Community Response Team initiative. 

 

2) Online Presence  

DCSWP Sport Officers continue to engage with local community groups and previous 
programme participants via tutorials, skill challenges and exercise sessions across social 
media channels, on zoom and via Whatsapp.  
 
Twitter: @dccsportsrec   
Facebook: DublinCitySportandWellbeing 
Instagram: @dublincitysportandwellbeing 
 
 
3) ‘Get Physically Active’ Sport Inclusion Programme 

DCSWP Sport Inclusion and Integration Officers are hosting weekly zoom exercise sessions 

for individuals aged between 19 and 65 years with intellectual, physical and sensory 

disabilities.  As part of the programme, each session has a different fitness theme covering 

topics such as the benefits of exercising every day, strength training, making healthy food 

choices, getting fresh air etc. The participants are also set weekly individual and group 

challenges, which encourage them to interact with their families at home and with each other 

in between sessions.  The programme began as a partnership with the Central Remedial Clinic 

for one group and for a duration of 5 weeks.  However due to its success, ‘Get Physically 

Active’ is currently being delivered on an ongoing basis, to groups with between 10 and 40 

participants, in conjunction with the following service providers.   

 

Day Time Service 

Monday 11:30am National Learning Network (Dublin 7 & 15) 

Monday 2pm National Learning Network (Ballyfermot) 

Tuesday 12:30pm St. John of Gods Liffey Services (Dublin 6, 8,10,12 & 24) 

Tuesday 3pm Central Remedial Clinic (Raheny, Killester, Clontarf) 

Wednesday 11am Central Remedial Clinic (Raheny, Killester, Clontarf) 

Thursday 2pm National Learning Network (Ballyfermot) 

The Central Remedial Clinic programme has recently been expanded to include a dedicated 

boxercise class that is proving extremely popular with participants.   

 

Page 55

https://twitter.com/dccsportsrec
https://www.facebook.com/DublinCitySportandWellbeingPartnership/
https://www.instagram.com/dublincitysportandwellbeing/


4) Spina Bifida Hydrocephalus Ireland (SBHI) Collaboration  

DCSWP Sport Inclusion and Integration Officers are teaming up with SBHI to deliver sports 
and physical activity sessions for their online summer camps running from Monday 29 June 
2020 until mid-August.  Individuals from across Dublin will participate in the camps including 
the North Central Area.   

5) Sport for Young People Small Grant Scheme 

The Sport for Young People Small Grant Scheme is available once annually to sports clubs 

operating within the administrative area of Dublin City Council that are affiliated to a National 

Governing Body of Sport.  The purpose of the scheme is to provide opportunities for young 

people aged 4 – 21 years to participate in sport and physical activity.  The grants are funded 

and administered by Sport Ireland and Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Partnership.  The 

scheme will be open for applications at the end of June 2020 via the DCSWP social media 

channels as above.   

6) Be Active Day 

On Saturday 28 June 2020 Sport Ireland are co-ordinating a National Be Active Day via the 

29 Local Sports Partnership in the country.  On the day, the nation are being asked to ‘Get 

Your Household Active’ and upload photographs and videos to Sport Ireland’s and the 

County Local Sports Partnership social media channels using the hashtag #BeActive.  

Promotion of the initiative will commence on 16 June 2020.  

7) Virtual Couch to 3K Walk/Jog Programme 

On 29 June 2020, in conjunction with the three other Dublin based Local Sports Partnerships 

(Fingal, Dún Laoghaire-Rathdown and South Dublin) DCSWP is launching a virtual couch to 

3km walk/jog programme.  Running for 8 weeks, participants will receive a weekly plan 

consisting of 3 session plans and will receive a certificate of completion at the end.  The 

programme will be promoted on social media from 16 June 2020 and registration is via 

Eventbrite.  

 

8) Co-funded Team Initiatives 

Athletics in the Community 

The Development Officer’s key priority at present is supporting clubs as one of the first 

sports to return to activity in phase one of the government roadmap of easing restrictions.   

Boxing in the Community 

On Monday 11 May 2020 the Boxing in the Community Team began running their Start Box 

programme online via the DCSWP and IABA social media channels.  Running for 8 weeks, 

the programme consists of basic boxing sessions and interviews with high performance 

coaches as well as current and former boxers. See above DCSWP social media handles.  

Page 56



Cricket in the Community 

The Development Officer continues to promote and encourage keeping active and healthy 

via social media cricket skill challenges and tutorials that can be seen on 

https://twitter.com/cricketleinster 

 
Assisting clubs in the North Central area i.e. Clontarf Cricket Club is also a key priority 

around areas such as return to training/playing, coaching sessions, planning local cricket 

camps if possible, attaining new members, engaging with the local community and targeting 

new schools in the wider community for the Autumn period. 

Football in the Community 

The Development Officers are currently carrying out an audit of all Dublin City based football 

clubs to assess their level of compliance with Safeguarding legislation.  Over 200 clubs 

across Dublin have been contacted and an action plan will follow to address any deficits that 

may become apparent. 

 

The team are continuing to volunteer for Boots Chemists by delivering prescriptions to 

vulnerable members of the community.  They also continue to promote and encourage 

keeping active and healthy via social media football skill challenges and tutorials.   

 

Get Going Get Rowing 

 

The Development Officer continues to promote and encourage keeping active and healthy via 

social media and is supporting clubs as one of the first sports to return to activity in phase one 

of easing restrictions.    

Rugby in the Community 

The Development Officer is currently prioritising the return to rugby and sustainability of the 
sport in the North Central through the following: 

- Online upskilling workshops aimed at local coaches and players  

- Designing a ‘Return to Rugby’ modified camp in conjunction with Clontarf Rugby 

Club 

- Producing both short and long term plans for growing and sustaining rugby in the 

area.   

 

 
CONTACT DETAILS  
 

Name Role Contact Information 

Shauna Mc Intyre General Manager, DCSWP shauna.mcintyre@dublincity.ie 

Aideen O’Connor Programmes & Services 

Manager, DCSWP 

aideen.oconnor@dublincity.e 

Colin Sharkey Office Manager, DCSWP Colin.sharkey@dublincity.ie 

Derek Ahern Sport Officer, DCSWP Derek.ahern@dublincity.ie 

Page 57

https://twitter.com/cricketleinster


Daniel Russell Sport Officer, DCSWP Daniel.russell@dublincity.ie 

Fergal Scally Sport Officer, DCSWP Fergal.scally@dublincity.ie 

Olivia Shattock Sport Officer, DCSWP Olivia.shattock@dublincity.ie 

Lisa Kelly Sport Inclusion & Integration 

Officer, DCSWP 

Lisa.Kelly@dublincity.ie 

Nuala O’Donovan Sport Inclusion & Integration 

Officer, DCSWP 

Nuala.odonovan@dublincity.ie 

Colette Quinn Development Officer, Athletics colettequinn@athleticsireland.ie 

Gerard O’Donnell Development Officer, Athletics gerardodonnell@athleticsireland.ie 

Jimmy Mowlds Development Officer, F.A.I. Jimmy.mowlds@fai.ie 

Keith O’Halloran Women’s Development 

Officer, F.A.I.  

Keith.ohalloran@fai.ie 

Ray Mc Cabe Development Officer, Rugby Ray.mccabe@leinsterrugby.ie 

Fintan Mc Allister Development Officer, Cricket Fintan.mcallister@cricketleinster.ie 

Noel Burke Development Officer, Boxing noelkarenburke@gmail.com 

Aoife Byrne Development Officer, Rowing Aoife.byrne@getgoinggetrowing.ie 

 
 
REPORT BY:  

 

Shauna Mc Intyre, General Manager DCSWP shauna.mcintyre@dublincity.ie 

Page 58



Traffic Service Requests,  

Status Report at 15/05/2019  

North Central Area Committee Meeting 15/06/2020 
 

 

Traffic Advisory Group (TAG) Service Request Statistics 

 

 

 

 

Breakdown of TAG Requests currently open on Confirm 

 

Stage 1 0 

Stage 2 167 

Stage 3 4 

Stage 4 104 

Stage 5 22 

 

General traffic service requests not requiring Statutory Orders. 
 
Total Non Tag requests received since previous 
report 

20 

Total Non Tag requests currently open on 
Confirm. 

192 

 

 

Traffic Advisory Group Status Reports 

Explanation of Stages: 

 Stage 1 -  Set up file, Assignment to Engineer, etc 

 Stage 2 - Assessment, Site surveys, review statutory orders, etc 

 Stage 3 - Consultations, with Garda, Dublin Bus, Luas, NTA, Local residents / businesses, etc 

 Stage 4 - Decision, TAG group, statutory orders, etc 

 Stage 5 - Implementation, signs, lines, construction, signal changes, certifications, etc 

 

No. TAG Requests received since previous report  
10 

Total TAG Requests currently open on Confirm 
297 

Page 59





Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Thursday 28 May 2020
297 Items

Status

1 90044667 SP_9621 COLLINSWOOD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing at junction of Collinswood and Collins Ave. 25/11/2013 10:31:092

2 90046202 SP_31756 WATERMILL ROAD (NC) Disab Park Bay Gen (Rescind) Move space 03/06/2016 12:36:142

3 90047919 SP_36777 SAINT BRIGID'S ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing at St Brigids Rd / Gracefield Rd interface 02/03/2017 12:18:332

4 90047992 SP_36850 HOWTH ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing near entrance to Foxfield Road. 07/03/2017 14:34:462

5 90048222 SP_37083 STATION ROAD (NC) Bus Stop Marking request bus cage marking be moved or
reduced in size

16/03/2017 13:47:592

6 90048756 SP_37624 ANNADALE DRIVE (NC) Double Yellow Lines on the corners and at the entrance to the
cul-de-sac to Nos. 49-87.

24/04/2017 12:21:222

7 90049525 SP_38401 CLONSHAUGH AVENUE (NC) Traffic Lights (new) at the junction of Glin Road. 30/05/2017 15:13:472

8 90049567 SP_38443 SWORDS ROAD (NC) Cycle Track Request for cycle lanes on Swords Road
between the junctions of Shanowen Road -
Larkhill Road

01/06/2017 08:58:442

9 90050698 SP_39596 SWORDS ROAD (NC) Cycle Track from Whitehall junction along road towards
city centre

09/08/2017 12:20:232

10 90050790 SP_39688 CASTLE AVENUE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing at junction of Castle Ave and Victoria Rd. 14/08/2017 13:14:142

11 90050804 SP_39702 SAINT GABRIEL'S ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing between church and shops 15/08/2017 11:53:502

12 90050913 SP_39813 COOLOCK DRIVE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing across from the Aldi Store. 22/08/2017 13:11:362

13 90050952 SP_39853 CLONTARF ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing at junction with Oulton Road. 23/08/2017 12:06:112

14 90050996 SP_39897 WINDSOR AVENUE (NC) Disab Park Bay Residential outside no 41. 25/08/2017 09:48:352

15 90051090 SP_39991 GREENCASTLE ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing at Greencastle Parade. 30/08/2017 16:08:412

16 90051162 SP_40063 VERNON PARK (NC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) At No.8 (appealing SR39932 decision not to
extend DYL's)
 
 

04/09/2017 17:01:522

17 7000549 THE CLOISTERS (NC) Double Yellow Lines along the green on The Cloisters, Grace
Park Road.

23/11/2017 13:27:032

18 7000972 WATERMILL ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing close to the junction of All Saint's Road. 19/12/2017 13:30:172

19 7001299 TURLOGH PARADE (NC) Cycle Track on the road. 19/01/2018 10:02:532

20 7001307 SWORDS ROAD (NC) Cycle Track for cycle lane inbound (outside Whitehall
Church)

19/01/2018 12:40:452

21 7001499 SHANTALLA DRIVE (NC) Disab Park Bay Resid (Rescind) removal of disabled parking bay outside no.
3

30/01/2018 16:29:052

22 7001602 ALL SAINTS ROAD (NC) Bus Stop Marking Bus Stop Markings for: All Saints Road,
Watermill Drive, Watermilll Road.

07/02/2018 13:34:592

23 7001641 NEWBROOK ROAD (NC) Double Yellow Lines Extend DYL's further up Newbrook Ave at
the junction with Newbrook Rd.

09/02/2018 12:48:072

24 7001681 BELMAYNE AVENUE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing on Parkside Boulevard near the two schools 13/02/2018 12:13:322

25 7001858 CLONTARF ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian/cyclist crossing for seaward side. 27/02/2018 15:51:072

Page 1 of 15

Page 61



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Thursday 28 May 2020
297 Items

Status

26 7002058 GREENCASTLE ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Greencastle Rd at the eastern entrance to
the Stardust Memorial Park

16/03/2018 16:43:222

27 7002063 MOUNT PROSPECT AVENUE
(NC)

Pedestrian Crossing at a suitable point along the avenue. 16/03/2018 17:00:202

28 7002517 CLONTARF ROAD (NC) TAG General Engineer Query Safety conflict Cycle Lane between Bus Stop
1752 (inbound east of Wooden Bridge) and
the kerb.

23/04/2018 10:32:452

29 7003411 CLONTARF ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian facilities at area around Clontarf
Baths

18/06/2018 13:21:542

30 7003684 MILLBROOK AVENUE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Safety measures to enable children to cross
road

06/07/2018 15:59:002

31 7003777 OULTON ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing at or near junction Oulton Road/Clontarf
Road

13/07/2018 12:38:152

32 7004372 TEMPLE VIEW AVENUE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing (Relocate) Proposed pedestrian crossing too near to the
roundabout.

17/08/2018 12:13:362

33 7004513 CROMCASTLE GREEN (NC) Pedestrian Crossing at Entrance to Scoil Fhursa 27/08/2018 09:13:332

34 7004729 BRIDGE STREET (NC) Cycle Track Looking for cycle lane markings to be
considered for Bridge Street

05/09/2018 14:36:302

35 7004834 OSCAR TRAYNOR ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing To review the effectiveness of the lights. 11/09/2018 15:53:272

36 7004965 FAIRVIEW STRAND (NC) Advance Cycle Stop Line Request for Advance Cycle Stopline 19/09/2018 18:40:392

37 7005425 HOWTH ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming Provision of a speed warning signal  near
Circle K, and change in road colours.

15/10/2018 12:40:242

38 7005446 GRACE PARK ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Richmond Rd - Grace Park Rd 15/10/2018 16:07:402

39 7005451 RICHMOND ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming Install intermittent speed signage and speed
limit restriction signage.

15/10/2018 17:28:282

40 7005612 SAINT LAWRENCE ROAD
(NC)

Traffic Lights (new) For exiting onto the Howth Road. 23/10/2018 18:17:462

41 7005754 MAIN STREET RAHENY ITS Right Turn Filter Light For traffic coming up Main Street (from St
Anne's) and turning right onto Howth Road.

02/11/2018 15:18:142

42 7005837 BELGROVE ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing (Relocate) Looking for consideration be given to the
possibility of moving the pedestrian crossing
back to Belgrove Road.

08/11/2018 09:43:132

43 7006085 COLLINSWOOD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing for entrance to estate,
near bus stops.

19/11/2018 11:52:242

44 7006097 KINCORA AVENUE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Add a 4th ped crossing to assist visually
impaired individual.

19/11/2018 17:13:302

45 7006208 MORROGH TERRACE (NC) Cycle Track Contra-flow cycle lane for this location. 27/11/2018 10:48:372

46 7006281 SHANOWEN ROAD (NC) ITS Left Turn Filter Light Left turn filter for traffic coming from
Shanowen Road to Swords Road.

29/11/2018 12:31:112

47 7006286 GRACE PARK ROAD (NC) ITS Right Turn Filter Light Green filter light for this junction. 29/11/2018 16:06:572

48 7006334 HOWTH ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing On the road 03/12/2018 16:50:382

49 7006434 CLONSHAUGH AVENUE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian lights for Clonshaugh Avenue.
Q91 NCAC Sept2019

06/12/2018 16:21:582

Page 2 of 15

Page 62



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Thursday 28 May 2020
297 Items

Status

50 7006490 GRACE PARK ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming Speed bumps, additional signage, or other
measures for this location.

10/12/2018 15:58:102

51 7006514 BROOKWOOD GROVE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing (Relocate) Move pedestrian crossing further from the
turn or provide additional traffic lights or
pedestrian crossing signage.

11/12/2018 16:20:242

52 7006553 FURRY PARK ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing From Furry Park Road to St Anne’s 13/12/2018 11:30:382

53 7006851 COPELAND AVENUE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian light for this road. 15/01/2019 10:54:222

54 7006996 COOLRUA DRIVE (NC) Traffic Calming "30km/h speed limit", "Children-at-play", and
"Children Crossing" signage required due to
heavy traffic using road to access Beaumont
House.

22/01/2019 15:43:552

55 7007169 HOWTH ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming Specifically looking for Driver feedback sign. 31/01/2019 13:21:102

56 7007493 THE HOLE IN THE WALL
ROAD (NC)

Roundabout (Rescind) Rescind roundabout and pedestrian lights,
and replace with signalised junction.

19/02/2019 12:01:512

57 7007527 GRACEFIELD ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing for this road. 20/02/2019 16:35:082

58 7007562 CLONSHAUGH ROAD (NC) Traffic Lights (new) at junction Riverside Park 21/02/2019 15:30:342

59 7007830 SAINT DAVID'S WOOD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian signals to facilitate children
crossing from St. David's Wood.

08/03/2019 12:57:592

60 7007837 MORROGH TERRACE (NC) Traffic Calming Pinch point and/or speed table for this
junction.

08/03/2019 16:36:362

61 7008094 GREENWOOD WALK (NC) Speed Ramps Regrade first speed ramp on Greenwood
Walk.

26/03/2019 15:40:302

62 7008111 LARKHILL ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing At the junction of Larkhill Rd and the Swords
Rd exiting Santry Village

27/03/2019 14:21:412

63 7008198 CLANRANALD ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming The junction between Clanranald and
Clanmahon.

01/04/2019 13:04:172

64 7008348 VICTORIA VILLAS (NC) No Parking No parking outside 14B to preserve turning
point on the cul-de-sac for Charlemont Road.

09/04/2019 17:11:582

65 7008390 GRATTAN LODGE (NC) Traffic Lights (new) Repeating traffic signals on exit road to
Grattan Lodge Estate.

10/04/2019 17:02:592

66 7008391 GRANGE ROAD (NC) Traffic Lights (Rescind) Rescind 2nd set of lights on Grange Road at
Grange Abbey Estate.

10/04/2019 17:05:462

67 7008413 GRANGE ROAD (NC) Cycle Track Cycle track for this location. 11/04/2019 13:04:052

68 7008487 GRIFFITH AVENUE (NC) Yellow Box Yellow box at entrance to allow safe access
to residence at this junction..

15/04/2019 14:33:532

69 7008495 JAMES LARKIN ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing at junction with Foxe's Lane 15/04/2019 16:29:212

70 7008519 PHILIPSBURGH AVENUE (NC) Traffic Lights (new) Extend height of traffic lights at this junction
to improve visibility.

16/04/2019 13:01:492

71 11078717 2459460 HOWTH ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing request for toucan crossing: crossing from
sutton to sandycove north to kilbarrack road
is dangerous for cyclists.forced to share the
crossing with right turning filter trafficr

24/04/2019 15:51:212

Page 3 of 15

Page 63



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Thursday 28 May 2020
297 Items

Status

72 7008641 MOUNT PROSPECT AVENUE
(NC)

Double Yellow Lines (Extend) measures to be considered to help ensure
access to both the park and residential
properties along Mount Prospect Avenue for
emergency vehicles, and prevent disruption
of bus routes.

24/04/2019 16:41:292

73 7008666 CASINO PARK (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing to allow school children
to proceed across the entrance to Casino
Park at this junction.

25/04/2019 13:43:012

74 7009010 ANNESLEY BRIDGE ROAD
(NC)

Children Crossing Sign Signage for cycle lane to slow bicycle traffic
at this point.

13/05/2019 16:29:022

75 7009110 SEAPARK DRIVE (NC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Extend DYLs from bend to beginning of
laneway at rear of no. 78, to prevent damage
to residents' vehicles and ensure access for
emergency vehicles.

16/05/2019 10:27:142

76 7009277 MARINO MART (NC) Yellow Box Yellow box from Bank of Ireland to
pedestrian crossing around the corner to
deal with bottleneck.

22/05/2019 16:22:562

77 7009401 GRACE PARK ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing on the road 28/05/2019 13:25:412

78 7009449 DOLLYMOUNT AVENUE (NC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) on the road 29/05/2019 15:47:142

79 7009453 KILLESTER PARK (NC) Stop Sign Stop signage and road markings for junction
with Killester Avenue, and for slip road in
front of shops.

29/05/2019 16:53:232

80 7009543 MALAHIDE ROAD (NC) Bus Lane (Change of hours) Extend hours inbound to 7am to 10am, and
from 12:30 to 19:00hrs Mon to Sat.

05/06/2019 14:56:532

81 7009579 HOWTH ROAD (NC) Left Turn Only - Except Buses On left lane approaching junction. 06/06/2019 16:38:182

82 7009665 HOWTH ROAD (NC) Bus Lane (Change of hours) Change hours to 16.00-19.00pm, as well as
07.00-10.00am

12/06/2019 16:38:372

83 7009884 CLONTARF ROAD (NC) Roundabout Roundabouts and traffic calming measures
to slow down vehicles speeding up between
Vernon Avenue & Castle Avenue junctions.

24/06/2019 17:04:562

84 7009948 BLUNDEN DRIVE (NC) Roundabout roundabout at the entrance to Blunden Drive 27/06/2019 10:02:452

85 7010140 CLONTARF ROAD (NC) Continuous White Line to differ between cyclists and pedestrians
along pathway along the seafront.

08/07/2019 12:16:262

86 7010144 HOWTH ROAD (NC) Cycle Track provide continuous cycle track 08/07/2019 14:28:332

87 7010324 CASTLE AVENUE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing no safe way to cross the main 2 lanes of
traffic

17/07/2019 12:25:172

88 7010325 CASTLE AVENUE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing at Clontarf rugby Club Side. 17/07/2019 12:41:522

89 7010439 RAHENY ROAD (NC) Cycle Track Install cycle lane 23/07/2019 12:01:142

90 7010526 MARYFIELD CRESCENT (NC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Extend DYLs at this location. 26/07/2019 12:05:382

91 7010535 MOUNT PROSPECT AVENUE
(NC)

Pedestrian Crossing near Seapark Apts. 26/07/2019 13:31:092

92 7010540 COOLOCK LANE (NC) ITS Right Turn Filter Light Add filter light to existing traffic lights, due to
traffic from business centre and Coolock
roundabout.

26/07/2019 16:42:422

Page 4 of 15

Page 64



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Thursday 28 May 2020
297 Items

Status

93 7010596 CLONTARF ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian crossing with
wheelchair-accessible dishing for this
location.

30/07/2019 13:45:052

94 7010602 SWAN'S NEST ROAD (NC) Double Yellow Lines At the entrance to St Benidict's Centre so
vehicles exiting can see approaching traffic

31/07/2019 09:26:332

95 7010770 OAKPARK AVENUE (NC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Extend DYLs from the chapel to around the
bend on the side of the green space.

09/08/2019 18:22:022

96 7010816 ARDMORE DRIVE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Request for pedestrian lights at this junction. 14/08/2019 13:00:122

97 7010872 MARINO CRESCENT (NC) Yield Sign conflict between taxi rank line markings and
stop/yield line marking causing a hazard -
non-compliance chapt. 7.

16/08/2019 16:01:012

98 7010898 OSCAR TRAYNOR ROAD (NC) Cycle Track dangerous area to cycle request cycle lane
South bound and north bound

20/08/2019 11:33:032

99 7011182 LEIN PARK (NC) Traffic Calming Cars are speeding.  There is also dangerous
issue of cars driving on the footpath spot
next to the statue on Lein Road to turn on to
Pairc Léin, Cars speed over this path and
the kerb is damaged where car exhausts
have hit it when going up and down.
Additional speed ramps which which require
motorists to slow down to navigate. 5/09/2019

05/09/2019 09:58:172

100 7011378 MALAHIDE ROAD (NC) Cycle Track 2 Way Segregated Cycle lane for the section of Malahide Road. 18/09/2019 12:51:082

101 7011518 SPRINGDALE ROAD (NC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Extend the prohibition on parking up
Springdale Road to allow both lanes to
function in safety as they approach the
Raheny Road,

26/09/2019 10:02:102

102 7011582 CROMCASTLE ROAD (NC) No Right Turn No right turn onto Dundaniel Road. 01/10/2019 16:32:322

103 7011583 CLONTARF ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming motorists are speeding along this stretch of
road.

01/10/2019 16:48:012

104 7011584 SEAVIEW AVENUE NORTH
(NC)

Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Request to have yellow lines extended to
give better vision while exiting laneway

02/10/2019 09:13:432

105 7011636 SWAN'S NEST ROAD (NC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) extend the Double Yellow Lines up to the
entrance gate of St. Benedict’s Resource
Center on both sides of the gateway.

03/10/2019 12:32:592

106 7011804 GRACEFIELD ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing at junction Collins Avenue. 11/10/2019 18:09:332

107 7011834 THORNDALE DRIVE (NC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Additional DYLs to prevent indiscriminate
parking along these road.

15/10/2019 17:05:322

108 7011935 CLONSHAUGH ROAD (NC) Traffic Lights (new) from the footpath on the left on Clonshaugh
road to cross extremely busy road going
toward direction of Swift grove

21/10/2019 14:53:072

109 7011978 ANNESLEY BRIDGE ROAD
(NC)

Bus Lane Can the inbound bus lane be extended to the
stop line Left turn only except buses be
added remove the straight ahead arrow Can
this be approved quickly so that the change
can be put in before operation open city?

23/10/2019 10:03:062

110 7011979 FAIRVIEW (NC) Bus Lane Can the outbound bus lane be extended to
the stop line at Edges Corner Left turn only
except buses be added remove the straight
ahead arrow Can this be approved quickly so
that the change can be put in before
operation open city?

23/10/2019 10:11:022

Page 5 of 15

Page 65



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Thursday 28 May 2020
297 Items

Status

111 7011981 MALAHIDE ROAD (NC) Left Turn Only - Except Buses Griffith Avenue Left turn only except buses
be added Can this be approved quickly so
that the change can be put in before
operation open city?

23/10/2019 10:16:452

112 7011986 SAINT AIDAN'S PARK (NC) Stop Sign Residents believe that there should be a
STOP sign rather than a yield sign at the
junction and that
double Yellow Lines should be added to the
corners at this junction to deter parking

23/10/2019 12:58:362

113 7012053 SWORDS ROAD (NC) Left Turn Only - Except Buses Collins Avenue and make this lane Left turn
only except buses Remove the straight
ahead arrow on this lane also

25/10/2019 10:46:412

114 7012134 SHANTALLA ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Build-Out (Rescind) This roundabout is at the junction of
Shantalla Road and the Swords Road.

Can the protruding footpath be taken out? Is
there a reason for the footpath coming out at
this location?

30/10/2019 15:12:362

115 7012159 COOLOCK DRIVE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Pedestrian Crossing at Aldi Supermarket,
Coolock Drive.  there seems to be adequate
volumes of pedestrians and traffic

31/10/2019 15:13:022

116 7012220 RICHMOND ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing junction of Drumcondra Road Upper 04/11/2019 15:01:572

117 7012244 BROOKVILLE PARK (NC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Extend DYLs along entire street. 05/11/2019 16:53:272

118 7012246 THE RISE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing requested that an investigation be conducted
to install a set of pedestrian lights at the
junction of The Rise and Griffith Avenue in
Drumcondra

06/11/2019 09:10:122

119 7012402 GRIFFITH AVENUE (NC) Clearway Extend existing clearway back to Walnut
Walk.

13/11/2019 14:49:032

120 7012489 LORCAN AVENUE (NC) TAG General Engineer Query 18/11/2019 15:34:212

121 7012620 TONLEGEE ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing if the Council can provide a pedestrian
crossing at the TLC complex on the
Tonlegee Road, Dublin 5 (the former Smurfit
site).

27/11/2019 09:22:442

122 11088345 2566294 SAINT BRENDAN'S AVENUE
(NC)

Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Yellow lines: Issue with parking on the ramp
beside the bus stop. Impossible to see
oncoming traffic, very dangerous for
pedestrians and nearby crèche. It would be
ideal to extend yellow lines onto the ramp
allowing a clear view for drivers and
pedestrians.

02/12/2019 13:49:022

123 7012730 SHANOWEN ROAD (NC) Yellow Box (Extend) Extend yellow box at junction with Shanowen
Drive, and other traffic measures.

02/12/2019 16:18:272

124 7012731 SAINT BRENDAN'S AVENUE
(NC)

Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Extend DYLs onto speed ramp beside bus
stop, as vehicles parking there block view of
oncoming traffic.

02/12/2019 17:12:412

125 7012739 KILBARRON ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing btwn Castlekevin Rd &  Cromcastle Green 03/12/2019 09:44:392

126 7012740 CROMCASTLE ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing btwn Primary Care Centre & junction
Kilbarron Pk

03/12/2019 09:51:312

127 7012781 COLLINS AVENUE WEST (NC) Cycle Track 2 Way Segregated Install flexible bollards or orca kerbing on
cycle lane, for students of DCU and Saint
Aidan's.

04/12/2019 15:33:082

Page 6 of 15

Page 66



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Thursday 28 May 2020
297 Items

Status

128 7012894 EDENMORE AVENUE (NC) Zebra Crossing Zebra crossing for elderly residents & school
children.

11/12/2019 11:05:032

129 7013038 GRIFFITH AVENUE (NC) No Right Turn (Except Buses) Griffith Ave near the Malahide Rd junction is
a `Bus Only? turning, or is it available for
other traffic to use. Can you check it out for
me? I remember at one stage some road
marking indicating it was only for Bus use?

18/12/2019 12:19:242

130 7013060 VERNON RISE (NC) TAG General Engineer Query Dishing of footpath. 20/12/2019 11:21:142

131 7013112 MARYFIELD CRESCENT (NC) Double Yellow Lines Double yellow on opposite side of road, 02/01/2020 12:17:352

132 7013141 SHANOWEN PARK (NC) Parking Restrictions Nos.1-37 06/01/2020 08:50:492

133 7013242 COOLOCK LANE (NC) ITS Right Turn Filter Light turning into OakPark Estate 10/01/2020 16:25:182

134 7013257 ALFIE BYRNE ROAD (NC) Cycle Track Shared Install signage and markings to indicate to
pedestrians and cyclists that this is a shared
cycle-pedestrian area (similar to Fairview
Park) so pedestrians can safely access the
Clontarf pedestrian prom from the Alfie
Byrne/Clontarf Road junction and that
cyclists slow down.

13/01/2020 15:01:532

135 7013261 ALL SAINTS PARK (NC) Double Yellow Lines at the junction on All Saints Park near the
shops.

13/01/2020 15:29:402

136 7013267 VERNON AVENUE (NC) TAG General Engineer Query 14/01/2020 14:24:022

137 7013297 SWORDS ROAD (NC) Yellow Box (Extend) Extend yellow box to cover the inbound
carriageway on the Swords Road.

15/01/2020 15:53:462

138 7013336 OSCAR TRAYNOR ROAD (NC) TAG General Engineer Query Entrance to Clonshaugh Ind Estate 17/01/2020 14:11:222

139 7013342 ASHCROFT (NC) Double Yellow Lines Double Yellow Lines around the corner for
12M

20/01/2020 10:08:342

140 7013349 ANNADALE CRESCENT (NC) Single Yellow Line Put a yellow line on side of road with even
numbers on houses, to prevent parking on
both sides of roads causing blockage

21/01/2020 08:19:532

141 7013565 CLONTARF ROAD (NC) Children Crossing Sign As it is a school there are often children
crossing this busy road and a sign would
encourage motorists to be more conscious
of this fact.

30/01/2020 12:48:252

142 7013619 LORCAN ROAD (NC) Double Yellow Lines Install DYLs from 2 Lorcan Road up to traffic
lights to preserve access for emergency
vehicles.

03/02/2020 17:12:242

143 7013806 CLONSHAUGH ROAD (NC) Traffic Lights (new) Additional traffic lights and further signs to
show that 60 is the speed limit on this
stretch of road

13/02/2020 09:42:222

144 7013881 SLADEMORE AVENUE (NC) Double Yellow Lines extend dyls on both sides of slademore ave
where the new school warden will be
standing . see also 7013879, 7013880

18/02/2020 10:23:072

145 7013939 THORNVILLE AVENUE (NC) TAG General Engineer Query They state that when a motorist is coming
from Thornville Avenue direction that they
cannot see what is coming from the left as
their view is totally obstructed. They ask if
the engineers can please examine same and
recommend safety measures here.

20/02/2020 11:38:082

146 7014000 THE COPSE (NC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Extend existing DYLs in the vicinity of 3 The
Copse.

25/02/2020 12:37:302

Page 7 of 15

Page 67



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Thursday 28 May 2020
297 Items

Status

147 7014040 CARNDONAGH PARK (NC) TAG General Engineer Query removal of island to allow wheelchair user to
move more freely

27/02/2020 09:21:092

148 7014188 CASTLE AVENUE (NC) Traffic Calming Safety of pedestrians at right angle bend on
Castle Avenue. A railing at the bend or a
trafffic calming measure on the approach to
the bend seems absolutely necessary to
secure the safety of pedestrians at this point.

05/03/2020 11:43:032

149 7014241 WOODBINE PARK (NC) Double Yellow Lines on corner of Woodbine Road 06/03/2020 16:46:202

150 7014242 KILLESTER PARK (NC) Children Crossing Sign 06/03/2020 17:13:192

151 7014271 ADARE PARK (NC) Traffic Calming along the road 09/03/2020 15:32:482

152 7014276 MALAHIDE ROAD (NC) Yellow Box at stop south of the Artane Roundabout (to
allow 27a access the turn right for Gracfield
Road).

09/03/2020 17:03:172

153 7014293 ELMFIELD WAY (NC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) As the lines on the opposite side of the road
do not cover my house, shoppers attending
the local spar park here and outside my
house which makes it near impossible to exit
my driveway in my vehicle.

10/03/2020 14:37:512

154 7014300 RIBH ROAD (NC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) requesting extension of double yellow lines
at the junction of Ribh Road and
Harmonstown Road for Dublin Bus access.

10/03/2020 16:35:292

155 7014307 GRIFFITH AVENUE (NC) Double Yellow Lines To put double yellow lines to the left of the
school exit/entrance, to enhance child safety
and parking issues. There are currently
double yellow lines on the right hand side if
exit/entrance

11/03/2020 09:41:002

156 7014370 GRATTAN LODGE (NC) TAG General Engineer Query Request to remove section of green, to
provide turning area for bin trucks and
emergency vehicles.

13/03/2020 14:44:322

157 7014429 RIBH ROAD (NC) Single Yellow Line Single yellow line for section of Ribh Road
along McAuley Park.

19/03/2020 11:02:442

158 7014560 ELM ROAD (NC) Parking Restrictions to enable Library Van to park... Q9 NCAC
April 2020

14/04/2020 10:11:222

159 7014651 SHANTALLA ROAD (NC) TAG General Engineer Query One of the lights is twisted towards the
footpath. I think that the drivers are not able
to see the color of the red light during the
day.

27/04/2020 09:26:092

160 7014690 SPRINGDALE ROAD (NC) TAG General Engineer Query change ramp pillows to ramps all the way
across road.

29/04/2020 09:38:322

161 7014815 SHANTALLA ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Zone The crossing from the housing estates to the
park has bo traffic lights access you have to
gamble with busy traffic at times to get
across with children to the park. Even during
rush hour traffic cars will park across the
small pedestrian crossing that is there. I feel
a zebra crossing system would really help as
this crossing is usually used by people with
children crossing to get into the park.

05/05/2020 10:48:102

162 7014823 COPELAND AVENUE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing A pedestrian light operated on demand by
pedestrian wishing to walk safely
across Copeland Avenue at this   junction

05/05/2020 11:51:552

163 7014869 MASK ROAD (NC) Double Yellow Lines at junction St Brendan's Ave. 07/05/2020 14:05:262

Page 8 of 15

Page 68



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Thursday 28 May 2020
297 Items

Status

164 7014890 CLANRANALD ROAD (NC) Speed Ramps The placing of speed ramps 08/05/2020 14:09:182

165 7014931 SHANTALLA ROAD (NC) Roundabout On shantalla road coming from santry
towards Beaumont at the bridge that little
painted roundabout needs to be replaced
with something more safe and permanent.
People come down bridge drive over paint
while people going up hill are forced out.
There is lots of room to redesign and get rid
of the daily near misses.Remove island at
#121 shantalla rd and redesign a real
roundabout.

11/05/2020 13:54:072

166 7014933 THORNVILLE ROAD (NC) Right Turn Only Lane Is it possible to put a left and right turn lane
on Thornville Rd at the junction with the
Kilbarrack Rd. The road has more than
enough width to accommodate this. The left
lane has a long tailback, especially so at
school times, but because of many cars
turning left positioning themselves in the
centre of the lane, cars in the queue waiting
to turn right are held up for multiple changes
of lights - unless they overtake with at least
half their vehicle on the side of the road for
oncoming traffic, which many do.
It is the case here that once the light goes
green for Thornville Rd, there is no
oncoming traffic as the Kilbarrack Rd lights
are red. The Thornville Road lane for traffic
turning from Kilbarrack Road is very wide
and if it were reduced by a foot or so, the
issue would be solved, and traffic would flow
more freely at each light change.

11/05/2020 14:20:392

167 7014972 GRACE PARK HEIGHTS (NC) Traffic Calming We write to you as concerned parents and
residents of Grace Park Heights. Our
concern centres around the blatant disregard
fellow motorists appear to be displaying for
speed limits and the fact they?re driving in a
heavily pedestrian populated area.

14/05/2020 14:53:142

168 7007746 MELROSE AVENUE (NC) P&D/Permit Park (Change
Hours)

Extend parking scheme to include Sundays. 04/03/2019 16:33:513

169 7009404 VICTORIA VILLAS (NC) P&D/Permit Parking Victoria Villas, Cecil Avenue, Brighton House28/05/2019 14:36:263

170 7010205 WAVERLEY AVENUE (NC) P&D/Permit Park (Change
Hours)

To include Sunday 10/07/2019 13:04:573

171 7010207 INVERNESS ROAD (NC) P&D/Permit Park (Change
Hours)

Due to close proximity to Croke Park. 10/07/2019 15:17:293

172 90044623 SP_7946 SWAN'S NEST AVENUE (NC) Speed Ramps Request for ramps on Swan's Nest Avenue. 12/07/2013 15:01:164

173 90044683 SP_10207 DROMNANANE ROAD (NC) Buildout at the junction of Dromnanane Road and
Coolatree Road.

14/01/2014 13:31:484

174 90044693 SP_10628 GRANGE ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing on Grange Road at Grange Abbey Grove. 11/02/2014 13:12:354

175 90044751 SP_12323 MALAHIDE ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming on the Malahide Road slip road, between
Marino Crescent and Clontarf Road.

14/05/2014 15:08:474

176 90044784 SP_12935 HADDON ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Build-Out at the junction of Clontarf Road. 25/06/2014 15:48:454

177 90045286 SP_19282 HAZELWOOD PARK (NC) Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures. 21/07/2015 15:43:034

178 90045360 SP_19961 ADARE PARK (NC) Speed Ramps on the road 03/09/2015 17:15:104

179 90045427 SP_20334 SION HILL ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming Request additional ramp in vicinity of No. 43 22/09/2015 15:38:494

Page 9 of 15

Page 69



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Thursday 28 May 2020
297 Items

Status

180 90045522 SP_21001 ANNADALE DRIVE (NC) Traffic Calming on the road. 22/10/2015 16:16:354

181 90045633 SP_27974 EDENMORE GREEN (NC) Traffic Calming Appeal in relation to traffic claming
measures for the road.
Appealing SR 18383.

20/11/2015 16:48:134

182 90045643 SP_28076 KINCORA ROAD (NC) Speed Ramps on the road. 24/11/2015 16:39:344

183 90045839 SP_29373 KINCORA GROVE (NC) Traffic Calming Kincora Grove 05/02/2016 18:18:254

184 90046074 SP_30910 THORNVILLE AVENUE (NC) Speed Ramps on the road 20/04/2016 15:35:474

185 90046551 SP_34250 GRACE PARK HEIGHTS (NC) Speed Ramps additional ramp on the road 11/10/2016 16:46:464

186 90046754 SP_35417 BEAUMONT WOODS (NC) ITS Left Turn Filter Light From Beaumont Woods onto Beaumont
Road.

09/12/2016 14:50:564

187 90046895 SP_35745 SEAFIELD ROAD EAST (NC) Traffic Calming near 1 Seacourt. 05/01/2017 16:12:304

188 90047117 SP_35968 FOXFIELD ROAD (NC) Speed Ramps on the road. 17/01/2017 15:01:434

189 90047622 SP_36476 MIDDLE THIRD (NC) Traffic Calming That a detailed report be given on the
hazardous traffic situation that pertains on
parts of Middle Third and the dangers posed
for pedestrians and motorists alike to include
possible safety measures that can be put in
place.
 

09/02/2017 17:03:514

190 90047636 SP_36491 CASTLE AVENUE (NC) Traffic Calming in relation to Belgrove JBS and JGS on
Castle Avenue

10/02/2017 16:28:224

191 90048340 SP_37203 GREENCASTLE ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming on the top half of the road between
Barryscourt Road and Riverside junction.

27/03/2017 14:58:334

192 90048484 SP_37347 MILLBROOK DRIVE (NC) Speed Ramps at the junction of Millbrook Drive and
Tonlegee Road.

05/04/2017 09:37:284

193 90048678 SP_37544 OLD MALAHIDE ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing Enlarge entrance to Malahide Rd Industrial
Pk at Newtown House/Power Bookmakers to
facilitate traffic from Old Malahide Rd, and
cut back the north-east corner of the exit
onto Malahide Rd to ease access for larger
vehicles. 

12/04/2017 16:50:284

194 90048697 SP_37563 GREENCASTLE ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing towards the Stardust Memorial Park /
Barryscourt Road.

18/04/2017 12:22:094

195 90049053 SP_37924 FERRYCARRIG ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming at the junction of Ferrycarrig Road and
Ferrycarrig Drive.

08/05/2017 20:39:344

196 90051129 SP_40030 SPRINGDALE ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming for additional traffic calming measures.
 

01/09/2017 09:32:184

197 90051919 SP_40833 DANIELI ROAD (NC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) at the end of Danieli Road, junction with
St.Brigid's Road.

17/10/2017 00:00:004

198 7000061 COLLINS AVENUE (NC) Pedestrian Crossing At Junction Beaumont Rd / Grace Park Rd 26/10/2017 09:31:544

199 7000077 EDENMORE AVENUE (NC) Traffic Calming on the road. 26/10/2017 11:49:044

200 7000731 HADDON ROAD (NC) Disab Park Bay Residential outside No.26 obo Mrs Maura Traynor 04/12/2017 12:17:174

201 7002467 CLONTARF PARK (NC) Speed Ramps Provision of previously recommended ramp. 18/04/2018 12:57:394

Page 10 of 15

Page 70



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Thursday 28 May 2020
297 Items

Status

202 7002733 THE CLOSE (NC) Double Yellow Lines at corner of The Close and Ivy Court. 03/05/2018 12:38:514

203 7002923 MASK AVENUE (NC) Roundabout & surrounding streets. 17/05/2018 16:21:484

204 7003260 MILLWOOD VILLAS (NC) TAG General Engineer Query At junction Woodbine Road - Ramps or
buildout or other measures.

08/06/2018 09:49:574

205 7004164 GRANGE ABBEY ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming on the road 07/08/2018 12:21:174

206 7004402 SWORDS ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing at the Comet Pub on the Swords Road 21/08/2018 12:49:014

207 7004460 GLENFARNE ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming Traffic Speeding using road as rat-run to
avoid lights on Springdale Road.

23/08/2018 13:17:574

208 7004667 SHANTALLA ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Crossing To facilitate residential access to the park. 03/09/2018 17:03:034

209 7005122 CRAIGFORD DRIVE (NC) Traffic Calming On the road 27/09/2018 11:58:594

210 7005447 FAIRVIEW TERRACE (NC) Traffic Calming along the street. 15/10/2018 16:16:554

211 7006993 GLENFARNE ROAD (NC) Speed Ramps One narrow and high ramp for this location. 22/01/2019 14:42:414

212 7007238 MILLWOOD PARK (NC) Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures for this road,
especially during matches.

05/02/2019 12:21:114

213 7007240 WOODBINE PARK (NC) Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures due to rat-running
and speeding, and to assist elderly
pedestrians in crossing the road.

05/02/2019 12:35:474

214 7007249 CHANEL ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming Additional measures for Chanel Road. Also
CHANEL AVE.

05/02/2019 17:06:324

215 7007648 EDENMORE GREEN (NC) Traffic Calming Additional traffic calming measures for this
area.

26/02/2019 17:04:294

216 7007812 HOLLYBROOK ROAD (NC) TAG General Engineer Query One-way system, or other measures, to
increase safety at this crossing.

07/03/2019 13:34:424

217 7008341 SLADEMORE AVENUE (NC) Traffic Calming Speed ramps, or other traffic calming
measures, for this junction.

09/04/2019 15:55:254

218 7008417 MALAHIDE ROAD (NC) No Right Turn (Rescind) Rescind No Right Turn to alleviate
congestion at Northern Cross Business Park
& apartments.

11/04/2019 15:43:434

219 7008420 SEAFIELD ROAD WEST (NC) School Warden Crossing Box remove large yellow box and replace with a
School Warden crossing box.

11/04/2019 16:13:484

220 7008526 KINCORA ROAD (NC) School Keep Clear Road markings for schools at this location. 16/04/2019 15:45:084

221 7008910 KINCORA AVENUE (NC) Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures for this road. 08/05/2019 16:04:084

222 7008942 BROOKWOOD AVENUE (NC) Speed Ramps The set of speed ramps between 105 and
111 are inefficient

09/05/2019 12:17:064

223 7009276 MALAHIDE ROAD (NC) No Left Turn No left turn at junction between
7.00-10.00am.

22/05/2019 13:50:094

224 7009349 ENNAFORT ROAD (NC) Speed Ramps Speed bumps for Ennafort Road. 24/05/2019 12:15:554

225 7009438 CLANREE ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming Just before entrance to Clanmaurice Court 29/05/2019 11:11:444

226 7009574 WOODBINE DRIVE (NC) Traffic Calming Traffic calming measures due to road being
uses as a rat-run.

06/06/2019 15:00:294

Page 11 of 15

Page 71



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Thursday 28 May 2020
297 Items

Status

227 7009575 JAMES LARKIN ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming Measures to slow down traffic on approach
to pedestrian crossing.

06/06/2019 15:11:324

228 7009580 MAYNE RIVER ROAD EAST
(NC)

Traffic Calming Measures to deter motorists from cutting
through from Malahide Road to the R139 at
high speed.

06/06/2019 16:50:084

229 7009949 ANNADALE CRESCENT (NC) Double Yellow Lines request for double yellow lines at the junction
of Annadale Crescent and Annadale Drive.

27/06/2019 10:08:254

230 7010206 PRIMROSE GROVE (NC) Disab Park Bay Residential on the road 10/07/2019 14:48:144

231 7010532 ISLAND VIEW COURT (NC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs to prevent all-day commuter parking
from obstructing this corner and decreasing
visibility.

26/07/2019 12:57:214

232 7010764 GRIFFITH COURT (NC) Traffic Calming Ramps or other types of traffic calming
measures

09/08/2019 14:32:194

233 7011067 SAINT DECLAN'S TERRACE
(NC)

Yellow Box Yellow box to assist in exiting from St.
Declan's Road & Terrace onto Griffith
Avenue during morning peak times.

29/08/2019 15:08:174

234 7011605 SWAN'S NEST AVENUE (NC) Children Crossing Sign on the road. 02/10/2019 12:43:204

235 7011642 SHANOWEN ROAD (NC) Pedestrian Build-Out Implement measures to deal with
narrowness of footpath and lack of visibility
of pedestrians coming to and from Omni
Shopping Centre.

03/10/2019 16:03:524

236 7011723 MALAHIDE ROAD (NC) Disab Park Bay General Lack of disabled parking spaces in these
locations.

08/10/2019 14:42:474

237 7011731 KINCORA AVENUE (NC) Double Yellow Lines DYLs approximately both sides of junction
with Vernon Avenue.

08/10/2019 17:23:344

238 7011818 PHILIPSBURGH AVENUE (NC) Double Yellow Lines on the road 14/10/2019 13:27:564

239 7011887 GLIN GROVE (NC) Children Crossing Sign at the entrance to the road. 17/10/2019 17:12:454

240 7012133 FAIRVIEW AVENUE LOWER
(NC)

Double Yellow Lines DYLs for right-hand side. 30/10/2019 14:41:274

241 7012262 MCAULEY ROAD (NC) School Warden Crossing Box outside the pedestrian entrance to St.
Brendans National Catholic School. There is
footpath dishing at this location already.

06/11/2019 13:15:474

242 7012277 HARMONSTOWN ROAD (NC) Yellow Box Yellow Box outside Davies Bathrooms and
DYLs on bend due to heavy traffic and
parking at factory entrance.

06/11/2019 16:00:244

243 7012353 THE THATCH ROAD (NC) Double Yellow Lines Nos.38 - 44 12/11/2019 09:57:444

244 7012379 COLLINS AVENUE EAST (NC) School Warden Crossing Box outside No. 190 where the school warden
stands.

12/11/2019 17:36:514

245 7012572 HOWTH ROAD (NC) Yellow Box to facilitate cars from city side of village to
take a right hand turn on to Main Street.

25/11/2019 10:38:594

246 7012614 ALL SAINTS DRIVE (NC) Parking Restrictions opposite the Garda Station at Scoil Assam
and adjacent the laneway to the Station.

26/11/2019 14:36:424

247 7012734 THORNVILLE ROAD (NC) Speed Ramps along main road and at entrance to cul de
sac

03/12/2019 09:06:394

248 7012750 CHARLEMONT (NC) Parking Restrictions Parking restrictions to prevent attendees of
St. Vincent's GAA Club blocking both sides
of road.

03/12/2019 16:20:484

Page 12 of 15

Page 72



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Thursday 28 May 2020
297 Items

Status

249 7012867 MILLBROOK GROVE (NC) Double Yellow Lines Double Yellow Lines on the corners at the
junction of Millbrook Grove and Road, yellow
junction box on Millbrook Road to allow
traffic from the Grove safe and ease of
access.

10/12/2019 09:28:194

250 7012981 BRIARFIELD ROAD (NC) Double Yellow Lines all day car parking here by DART
commuters is causing huge problems for
local residents.

16/12/2019 11:54:574

251 7013120 DUNLUCE ROAD (NC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Extend existing DYLs from junction with
Howth Road up to 1 Dunluce Road to
preserve access for street cleaners and
emergency services.

02/01/2020 14:53:284

252 7013395 SHANOWEN AVENUE (NC) Double Yellow Lines Cars are parked all along the road making it
difficult for residents to enter and leave their
driveways.

22/01/2020 12:22:034

253 7013570 BALLYSHANNON ROAD (NC) TAG General Engineer Query complaint  regarding the continuous illegal
parking on Ballyshannon Road, AND, as per
Cllr Brabazon, Trim Road, Coolock, Dublin 5
on a daily basis by visitors to Beaumont
Hospital.

30/01/2020 14:53:444

254 7013642 LORCAN AVENUE (NC) Traffic Calming "Slow" signs & road markings,
"Children-at-play" signage and any other
suitable signage to address speeding on
Lorcan Avenue.

04/02/2020 15:36:514

255 7013646 CADOGAN ROAD (NC) Speed Ramps Speed ramps for Cadogan Road. 04/02/2020 17:17:214

256 7013729 SHANOWEN AVENUE (NC) Single Yellow Line Single yellow line for all of Shanowen
Avenue.

10/02/2020 12:09:184

257 7013736 CHARLEMONT ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming Speed ramps, or other measures, to slow
down traffic travelling from Malahide Road to
Howth Road.

10/02/2020 12:58:304

258 7013785 BELTON PARK ROAD (NC) Continuous White Line (Extend) Extend existing continuous white line up to
end of 59 Belton Park Road.

12/02/2020 11:04:084

259 7013842 KINCORA ROAD (NC) Double Yellow Lines (Extend) Extend DYLs on north side of Kincora Road,
from Vernon Avenue to Hazel Lane.

14/02/2020 12:34:044

260 7013879 SLADEMORE AVENUE (NC) School Warden Crossing Box on Slademore Avenue , at the end of the
curren School Keep Clear markings and the
tree. See map.

18/02/2020 10:17:444

261 7013935 MAIN STREET (NC) Disab Park Bay General Disabled parking bay for service users of
Active Living and The Village Pharmacy.

19/02/2020 15:02:004

262 7014001 COLLINS AVENUE
EXTENSION (NC)

Parking Restrictions at entrance to DCC Depot. 25/02/2020 13:13:584

263 7014009 BROOKWOOD ROAD (NC) 3.5 Tonne Limit limit access to Brookwood Road. 25/02/2020 16:16:144

264 7014012 MOATFIELD ROAD (NC) Double Yellow Lines Double yellow lines on the sharp bend. 26/02/2020 09:27:374

265 7014042 MOUNT PROSPECT PARK
(NC)

Traffic Calming Speed bumps and Speed limit signs. 27/02/2020 10:11:324

266 7014058 ANNESLEY BRIDGE ROAD
(NC)

Yellow Box junction of Cadogan Road and Annesley
Bridge Road. It would greatly improve the
safety of vehicles existing Cadogan Road,
especially during rush hour.

28/02/2020 10:19:184

267 7014126 BROOKFIELD (NC) Traffic Calming Stop sign and/or Children at Play signage. 03/03/2020 12:27:544

Page 13 of 15

Page 73



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Thursday 28 May 2020
297 Items

Status

268 7014138 GREENWOOD WALK (NC) Double Yellow Lines traffic congestion in front of houses. 04/03/2020 09:54:464

269 7014178 CONQUER HILL ROAD (NC) Disab Park Bay Residential 04/03/2020 14:28:474

270 7014187 KINCORA ROAD (NC) Traffic Calming Please can an engineer take a look at the
roadway and recommend what action could
be taken with regard to traffic calming at the
location

05/03/2020 11:27:494

271 7014244 GRANGE PARK ROAD (NC) Double Yellow Lines filter lane with parked cars. 09/03/2020 08:57:094

272 7014368 BROOKWOOD CRESCENT
(NC)

Traffic Calming request that traffic calming is introduced on
Brookwood Crescent,

13/03/2020 14:02:504

273 7014419 MARINO PARK (NC) Children Crossing Sign "Slow, Children at Play" signage for this
location.

18/03/2020 13:30:544

274 7014441 BETTYGLEN (NC) Stop Sign Stop sign and road markings for traffic
heading from Bettyglen into Maywood
Crescent.

20/03/2020 16:47:094

275 7014563 SHANOWEN GROVE (NC) TAG General Engineer Query Requesting wheelchair dishing-Also requests
dishing on the path beside the green as the
lip is too high to get a wheelchair or pram
onto it.

15/04/2020 10:58:264

276 90044749 SP_12285 MCAULEY AVENUE (NC) Stop Sign Traffic measures at bend at junction of
McAuley Avenue & Léin Park, and at bend at
junction with Léin Road.

13/05/2014 12:40:545

277 90045778 SP_28967 RAHENY PARK (NC) Yield Sign outside No. 83. 19/01/2016 15:22:465

278 90048692 SP_37558 CLONSHAUGH DRIVE (NC) School Ahead Sign for St. Francis Senior National School. 18/04/2017 12:12:225

279 90051265 SP_40167 VERNON AVENUE (NC) Disab Park Bay Residential Outside No. 27. 08/09/2017 12:30:365

280 7002061 BELTON PARK ROAD (NC) Children Crossing Sign from Collins Ave. 16/03/2018 16:54:145

281 7002117 COLLINS PARK (NC) Stop Sign Yield or Stop Sign at junction 22/03/2018 10:46:155

282 7002124 WATERMILL DRIVE (NC) Stop Sign at junction Watermill Road 22/03/2018 13:31:595

283 7002378 KILBARRON ROAD (NC) No Entry sign and roadmarkings on the first turn right
(on entering the cul-de-sac section of
Kilbarron Road).

10/04/2018 16:46:395

284 7003407 MARINO MART (NC) Cycle Track Review design of markings and signage for
non-mandatory cycle path.

18/06/2018 13:01:485

285 7005329 WOODBINE PARK (NC) Double Yellow Lines Additional DYLs to assist with entering from
Raheny Rd.

09/10/2018 12:47:115

286 7005436 SWORDS ROAD (NC) Bus Lane (Change of hours) Modify to include Sundays. 15/10/2018 15:18:445

287 7006501 RIVERSIDE PARK (NC) 3.5 Tonne Limit at entry to Riverside Park from Clonshaugh
Rd.

11/12/2018 12:15:445

288 7006531 SHANOWEN AVENUE (NC) Stop Sign Stop Sign at junction, cars ingnoring stop
line

12/12/2018 12:14:345

289 7007609 BELMONT PARK (NC) Double Yellow Lines Review of the DYL's on Belmont Park
opposite the house's. They are time plated
with no parking 24 hours Mon - Fri.

25/02/2019 12:44:385

290 7009063 KILLESTER PARK (NC) Children Crossing Sign At entrance to Killester Park (junction with
Killester Avenue).

15/05/2019 09:31:515

Page 14 of 15

Page 74



Item Enquiry SP Ref Site Subject Description Logged

Status Report Thursday 28 May 2020
297 Items

Status

291 7009402 COOLATREE PARK (NC) Children Crossing Sign Signage requested due to vehicles cutting
through estate from the main road.

28/05/2019 13:41:015

292 7009447 CHERRYMOUNT CRESCENT
(NC)

Children Crossing Sign 29/05/2019 15:26:525

293 7010765 CLONSHAUGH ROAD (NC) 3.5 Tonne Limit Additional 3.5 Tonne Limit signage to restrict
heavy vehicles from this road.

09/08/2019 14:43:515

294 7010926 BRIARFIELD ROAD (NC) Children Crossing Sign "Children at play", "SLOW" or other suitable
signage for Scoil Eoin, Abacus, & St.
Michael's House.

21/08/2019 18:05:585

295 7012187 BRIARFIELD ROAD (NC) Parking Restrictions safety audit requested on Briarfield Road,
Walk and Villas.

01/11/2019 12:28:265

296 7012878 RIVERSIDE PARK (NC) 3.5 Tonne Limit 3.5 Tonne Limit to prevent exceptionally
large trucks from using Riverside Park.

10/12/2019 15:46:245

297 7013950 MOUNT PROSPECT PARK
(NC)

Traffic Calming assess for speed ramps/traffic calming. 20/02/2020 14:42:485

Page 15 of 15

Page 75





Page 1 of 2

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

29/05/2020
North Central Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 15/06/2020)
6 Items

1 7007648 EDENMORE GREEN
(NC)

Dublin 5Traffic Calming Additional traffic calming
measures for this area.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended The Tranpsort Advisory Group have a finite budget and we have
to make very difficult decisions on where and how to best allocate
these funds. Unfortunately, the implementation of an additional
traffic calming measures for this area did not make the shortlist
for our 2020 capital works scheme.
However the provision of a traffic calming measures will be
considered which will narrow the road width and slow traffic. This
will be included on a future works programme subject to funding
being available and technical considerations.

26/02/2019

2 7010206 PRIMROSE GROVE
(NC)

Dublin 17Disab Park Bay
Residential

on the road 0Member of
the Public

Recommended It is recommended to install disabled parking bay at the gable end
of 26 Primrose Grove, Darndale.

Stats:
On Primrose Grove on the North side of the carriageway, from a
point of the Eastern gable  of 26 Primrose Grove, install 6 meters
of a disabled parking bay in an East direction and accompanied
by the upright Disabled Persons’ parking information sign.

10/07/2019

3 7011642 SHANOWEN ROAD
(NC)

Dublin 9Pedestrian
Build-Out

Implement measures to deal with
narrowness of footpath and lack
of visibility of pedestrians coming
to and from Omni Shopping
Centre.

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

The junction of Shanowen Road and Swords Road is proposed for
change in the Bus Connects project, and it will be upgraded.
The DCC bus connects team have raised this issue in their
submission to the NTA.
We believe that if this modification is to go ahead it would
alleviate many or all of the concerns raised.

03/10/2019

4 7014000 THE COPSE (NC) Dublin 9Double Yellow
Lines (Extend)

Extend existing DYLs in the
vicinity of 3 The Copse.

0Member of
the Public

Recommended After re-investigating the case, with the new information received
from the client, it is recommended to extend the double yellow
lines at the location considering that parked cars can obstruct the
safety access for emergency vehicles and/or bin lories.(detail in
attach)

Stats: On The Copse, from lamp standard 8 on the South side of
the carriageway, install 2.4 meters of Double Yellow Line in a
West direction.
Stats: On The Copse, from lamp standard 8 on the South side of
the carriageway, install 2.6 meters of Double Yellow Line in an
East direction.
Stat: On The Copse, from a point commencing approx. 11.1
meters East of lamp standard 8 on the South side of the
carriageway, install 9 meters of Double Yellow Line in an East
direction.

25/02/2020

P
age 77



Page 2 of 2

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

29/05/2020
North Central Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 15/06/2020)
6 Items

5 7014126 BROOKFIELD (NC) Dublin 5Traffic Calming Stop sign and/or Children at Play
signage.

0Member of
the Public

Not
Recommended

Children at play signs are only considered at the entrance to
housing estates from main traffic routes. Signage is not
recommended within residential estate roads, as this would lead
to a proliferation of signs throughout the city. In addition Dublin
City Council does not erect such signs on roads that are already
traffic calmed or cul de sac’s.
Brookfield is a cul-de-sac road and short in length. Under the road
traffic act, traffic on a road ending at a T junction must give way to
traffic from either direction on the other road. Signs and markings
are not necessary where normal rules of the road apply, moreover
such signs/markings are only provided on approaches to major
junctions, otherwise this would lead to a proliferation of signs
throughout residential estates. Therefore this request is not
recommended.

03/03/2020

6 7014368 BROOKWOOD
CRESCENT (NC)

Dublin 5Traffic Calming request that traffic calming is
introduced on Brookwood
Crescent,

0TDNot
Recommended

A site inspection has not indicated the presence of excessive
speeding on Brookwood Crescent. For the most part, there is on
street parking which is effectively acting as traffic calming by
physically narrowing the carriageway and reducing drivers forward
visibility.
As well, Brookwood Crescent it’s covered by the 30 km/h Slow
Zone sign (F 403), indicating the lower speed limit and that the
area is a Home Zone/Slow Zone, which warns motorists that it is
a residential area and to expect children.
It is not recommend traffic calming on Brookwood Crescent as the
minimum requirements have not been met with regard to straight
road length and traffic volume.

13/03/2020

P
age 78


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the North Central Area Committee Meeting held on the 18th May, 2020
	2 Questions to the Area Manager
	3a Edenmore Pitch and Putt Course
	3b Grass Cutting Contract
	3d Mapping Exercise of all SHD's/Planning Applications for Dublin 9 2019 - 2020
	3f Strategy to prosecute perpertrators of illegal dumping
	3g Housing Supply Report
	3h Sports and Wellbeing Partnership Report
	4a Minutes of TAG meeting held on the 15th May, 2020
	North Central Status B May
	NorthCentralJuneAreaAgendaTAG 26.05.2020


